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For more than a century, Western powers have been using covert strategies to exercise control over the Middle East.


In this unparalleled investigation, Dr Christopher Davidson traces the long history of the West’s obsession with the region’s vast resources, and explains the turbulent current events in a context rarely explored before. Based on hundreds of leaked and declassified documents, and interviews with former officials, academics, journalists and activists, Shadow Wars exposes the shocking extent of Western interference in the Middle East.


From the Cold War to the so-called ‘War on Terror’ that sent thousands of Western troops into Afghanistan and Iraq, Davidson shows how the region’s most powerful actors have been manipulated by foreign players in a game that has given rise to dictators, sectarian wars, bloody counter-revolutions and now the most brutal incarnation of Islamic extremism ever seen.
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INTRODUCTION



Swept along on a tidal wave of euphoria, many people had cautiously begun to believe that the Arab uprisings of 2011 heralded the dawn of a new era in which more progressive, secular, and perhaps even democratic states could finally be built from the ruins of tyranny. But hopes were dashed almost as soon as they were raised, and any remaining optimism quickly gave way to shock and dismay as resurgent religious politics, bloody counter-revolutions, and sectarian wars began to take hold. To make matters worse, not only were the ideals of the so-called ‘Arab Spring’ left lying in tatters, but its failures somehow seemed responsible for the rise of ever more repressive dictatorships, along with some of the most brutal incarnations of Islamic extremism the world has ever seen.


Forlorn, dispirited, and resigned to an Arab world doomed to fail, activists and scholars inevitably began to ask, ‘What went wrong?’ After all, if parts of Europe, Latin America, and even Africa once managed to cut the shackles of authoritarianism, then why not the Arabs? Moreover, and more urgently, many have asked why the region’s predominant and essentially peace-promoting Islamic faith had once again proven so vulnerable to co-option and subversion by powerful fanatics, even in the twenty-first century. All are important questions demanding a response and explanations, not only because an honest and thorough post-mortem of the Arab Spring is needed, but because those who aspire to a brighter future for the region must be better prepared to identify the real root causes behind its perennial afflictions.


Beginning at the beginning, the answers put forward in this book first require a little time travel, not only to establish the causes of the Arab Spring, but also to help understand how it sits in history. Demonstrating that the events of 2011 and the subsequent counter-revolutions were in many ways nothing new, it shows how important elements of each have frequently surfaced in what is best understood as a centuries-old and worldwide pattern of popular challenges and autocratic reactions. Importantly, these struggles were rarely limited to just one country or a region’s elites and their opponents, but instead were often a function of the inextricably interlinked interests of influential foreign powers and their local clients. In some cases, when threats to the status quo were especially severe, this even led to multinational counter-revolutionary coalitions involving volatile mixes of competing empires allied to on-the-ground despots, feudal dynasties, and conservative clerics. Tragically for the resource-rich and strategically vital Middle East, such efforts have been particularly pronounced, especially in the wake of its first major oil exports – crucial to global energy supplies – and its subsequent centrality to Cold War proxy power struggles.


With the stakes getting ever higher, and arguably now still greater than in any other part of the developing world, it is a little easier to appreciate the considerable lengths taken by those both inside and outside the region to protect their positions and their unfettered access to its wealth. In some cases, the familiar fingerprints from covert campaigns littered across the twentieth century, from Malaya to Iran to Nicaragua, can easily be found in the Arab world today. In others, however, there are signs of older and much darker strategies having been rekindled, including those that have enlisted and wilfully cultivated the most fundamentalist religious forces so as to suppress progressive movements and reverse efforts to found independent nations more capable of controlling their own resources and destinies.


In this context, the book’s most forceful argument, and the one that will prove most unsettling for citizens of the Western world, is that the primary blame for not only the failure of the Arab Spring, but also the dramatic and well-funded rise of Islamic extremist organizations since the late twentieth century – including the deadly al-Qaeda and now the blood-curdling ‘Islamic State’ – must rest with the long-running policies of successive imperial and ‘advanced-capitalist’ administrations and their ongoing manipulations of an elaborate network of powerful national and transnational actors across both the Arab and Islamic worlds. As the final chapters will attest, the threat to present-day Western states and their constituent corporations from self-determining 2011-style Arab nations has not only been foiled, but has also been covertly redirected into a pretext for striking at their other enemies. Meanwhile, hidden behind ever more carefully layered veils of agents and intermediaries, the same powers that have distantly ruled the region for hundreds of years are now making sure their grip gets even tighter.
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COUNTER-REVOLUTION – A PATTERN EMERGES


LESSONS FROM THE PAST – NOTHING IS NEW


Named after their mascot, King James II, the Jacobite nobles of Britain and Ireland are often touted as good early examples of ‘counter-revolutionaries’.1 Seeking the restoration of James and his Catholic House of Stuart, their goal was the reversal of the ‘Glorious Revolution’ of 1688 that led to the coronation of James’ Protestant son-in-law.2 Also intending for James to resume the ‘divine right of kings’ and continue efforts to weaken parliament, their plan was to realign the country with the Pope, in Rome, and the King of France. Put simply, the Jacobites were backing an old, absolutist regime buttressed by distant powers and underpinned by conservative religious forces that sought to roll back political freedoms and return Britain to a more medieval system of rule.3


But fast-forwarding to the late eighteenth century, it was the intensifying resistance to the French Revolution of 1789 that started to give a taste of how displaced European ancien régimes would really begin to fight back against both progressive forces and mass uprisings. In Paris itself, the ‘Thermidorian Reaction’ of 1794 – named after the new revolutionary calendar’s warm summer month of Thermidor – saw the forcible ousting of Maximilien Robespierre and other leading politicians from the National Convention, the first French parliament to be elected by universal male suffrage.4 Outlawed, hunted down, and then executed, Robespierre and the proponents of the new revolutionary constitution gave way to a reactionary regime which set about creating a dual-chamber English-style parliament in an effort to protect the interests of the wealthy and powerful.5


In parallel, the nascent revolutionary republic came under attack in the countryside too, with a full-scale rebellion in France’s western Vendée province blamed on exiled noblemen and a clergy that sought to spark peasant unrest and dissuade parishioners from joining the national army.6 With another clear alliance in place between sidelined aristocrats and traditional religious powers, Antoine-François Momoro – the originator of the phrase ‘Liberté, Égalité, Fraternité’ – described how ‘criminal priests, taking advantage of the credulity of the inhabitants of the country, remained hidden behind a screen, as did the former nobles who crowded into the region from the four corners of France; they waited for the favourable moment to appear and put themselves at the head of the rebellious peasants.’7


Meanwhile, as the effects of the Thermidorian and Vendée counter-revolutions began to reverberate beyond France’s borders, any hope of spreading new political ideas or – as they have been described – ‘radical republican agitations’ was being firmly nipped in the bud back in Britain. Severe legal repression and the banning of influential texts such as Thomas Paine’s Rights of Man was soon followed by the looting and burning of houses belonging to ‘radicals and dissenters’. England had become a country ‘covered with a network of barracks’, with restive industrial areas ‘treated almost as a conquered country in the hands of an army of occupation’.8


In Catholic Italy, as it was for the Vendée nobles and Jacobites before them, the Vatican became an important ally for those opposed to a new republic that sought to bring democracy to Naples and rekindle the ideals of the region’s ancient Greek colony of Parthenope.9 With priests, bishops, and even cardinals mobilizing peasants, and with the help of a British naval blockade, a branch of the old ruling Bourbon dynasty was violently restored and an absolutist ‘Kingdom of Naples’ re-established in 1799.10 For the first four weeks of his return, King Ferdinand IV kept his headquarters offshore as a guest of British rear admiral Horatio Nelson on HMS Foudroyant, and it was from there that he set about ordering the executions of over a hundred political prisoners including poets, scientists, and constitution-writers. Complete with public beheadings, an era of debilitating censorship and the suppression of all political movements duly began.11


Attempting much the same strategy, the Spanish ‘Carlists’ who fought for the installation of another Bourbon, Carlos V, were backed by both displaced feudal landowners and the Pope in their efforts to reinstate the divine right of kings on the Iberian peninsula. Finally attacking in 1833, their forces may not have been successful, but they did much to weaken a fledgling Spanish state which, twenty years earlier, had introduced arguably the most modern and liberal constitution in the world, complete with land reform laws, universal male suffrage, and guarantees for freedom of the press.12


Despite the many setbacks and the hardening of counter-revolutionary fronts, the people of Europe were nonetheless still on the move, and by 1848 the ‘Spring of Nations’ or ‘Springtime of the People’ blossomed across the continent. Only days after Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels published their Communist Manifesto, euphoric crowds took to the streets of France to demand a new republic, while worried monarchs in Sweden, Denmark, and the Netherlands quickly made concessions as demonstrations swept through their cities.13 Seemingly unassailable, with a mass popular mandate, the new French government introduced sweeping new employment rules and other social reforms, along with restoring the original revolutionary goal of universal male suffrage. But in a careful manoeuvre, this time not co-opting religious forces and instead just claiming to ‘restore order’, the old monarchists and other conservatives engineered the appointment of a military general as head of the new state, who in turn paved the way for the election of Louis-Napoléon Bonaparte as president by the end of the year. As the strongman nephew of Napoléon I, who had morphed France into an empire earlier in the century, Louis-Napoléon’s security-focused strategies – Bonapartism – were enough to hold the spirit of 1848 in check. Within three years he and his supporters were then able to launch a ‘self-coup’ that abolished the National Assembly outright and initiated the second French Empire, with Louis crowned Emperor Napoléon III.14


More than a thousand miles to the east, Russia’s absolutist and corrupt Romanov dynasty was weathering repeated uprisings and even full-blown rebellions, but by the turn of the twentieth century its more than ninety million subjects were ripe for their own revolution.15 With the Marx-inspired Bolshevik or ‘Majority’ faction of the Russian Social Democratic Party rising to the fore in the wake of Tsar Nicholas II’s eventual ouster in 1917, the movement was poised to burst its Russian banks with a threat to ‘furnish the new proletarian society in Russia with a suitable parallel environment in other European and extra-European countries’.16 The inevitable reaction across Europe, and indeed the world, is important to understand as it involved not only collaborations between worried royals and other old regimes, but also new states with supposedly progressive agendas but which were increasingly being underwritten by capitalist modes of production and were thus equally alarmed at the prospect of an international workers-led movement reaching their own territories. After all, the Bolsheviks had not only supplanted a tsar, but, as historian William Blum describes, had also displayed the ‘audacity of overthrowing a capitalist-feudal system and proclaiming the first socialist state in the history of the world’. As such it became ‘a virus that had to be eradicated’.17


For it to succeed, any counter-revolutionary campaign therefore had to go far beyond the old methods of co-opting religion, reinvigorating aristocrats, or launching military coups. After all, the indigenous resistance, known as the ‘White Movement’, was a poorly performing loose confederation of monarchists, non-socialist republicans, peasants, and even conscripts from Ukraine.18 Conducting pogroms against ancient Jewish communities and being rolled back on the battlefield, it stood no chance of winning on its own, but its potential usefulness had nevertheless caught the attention of the young British minister for war and air, Winston Churchill, whose stated aim was to ‘strangle at birth’ the new Russian socialist republic.19


Forming a global coalition to back the White Movement, Churchill also sought to insert foreign troops into an increasingly chaotic and destabilizing ‘civil war’. Using the pretext of rescuing a stranded Czechoslovak legion in Russia, Britain and France requested help for their expeditionary forces from the similarly concerned United States, which duly dispatched five thousand soldiers to the northern coastline while a further eight thousand disembarked on the Pacific coastline near Vladivostok. With foreign counter-revolutionaries soon outnumbering actual Russians, troops from Canada, Australia, India, and Japan joined the fray, while Italy, Greece, Romania, and several other countries also eventually made a contribution.20


Disturbingly, Britain also sent officers to Central Asia to lead and recruit forces for a campaign by Turkmen tribes against secular Russia. Requiring that its ‘officers should be accompanied, if possible, by persona qualified to conduct Muhammadan propaganda in favour of the allies’, Britain was knowingly entering into a relationship with an anti-Bolshevik force committed to founding ‘an Islamic emirate with sharia law courts’. Although the British-led Turkmen troops were officially withdrawn in 1919, camel caravans of weapons and supplies continued to flow to large numbers of these Islamic guerrilla fighters. Described by Moscow as basmachi or ‘bandits’, their religious-political campaign had by then spread to Tajik and Kazakh territories.21


Despite its size and the dozens of states involved, the massive alliance ultimately failed. Poor morale and wariness of another world war had seemingly combined with real fears of revolt in the backyards of the reactionary powers. The German revolution of 1918–19 may have failed to transfer power to Russian-style people’s assemblies, due to the violence of Freikorps nationalist militias and the hesitancy of the Social Democratic Party to exclude fully old elites, but as Leon Trotsky observed, ‘the only reason the Austro-German military powers did not carry their attack upon Soviet Russia through to the end was that they felt behind their back the hot breath of the revolution.’ Similarly, the French sailors’ revolt in the Black Sea in 1919 undoubtedly obliged Paris to call off its attacks on Russia, while London withdrew its forces from northern Russia the same year due to pressure from British workers’ movements.22


The emergence of the Freikorps had, however, already heralded the birth of a new counter-revolutionary front across Europe. In Italy’s case the Bienno Rosso – a two-year-long ‘red movement’ that had begun in 1919 – was violently confronted by ‘black shirt’ militias and eventually defeated in 1922 after the ‘March on Rome’ by Benito Mussolini’s National Fascist Party. Having sparked workers’ strikes and promoted Moscow-like worker-led councils in both factories and the countryside, the Bienno Rosso had led to Italy’s trade union membership swelling to several hundred thousand, but with Mussolini in power its work was quickly undone, with a sort of corporate-friendly nationalism putting Italy on a very different path. Adopting many of the more popular ideas of the socialist and communist revolutionaries of the previous decade, and having clearly recognized the need for a new type of society, Mussolini had seemingly succeeded in creating a form of state-led capitalist organization with much tighter restrictions on labour and workers’ movements.23


LESSONS FROM THE PAST – THE PREVENTIVE COUNTER-REVOLUTIONS


Witnessing the ongoing rise of the fascists in the 1930s, the German theoretician Karl Korsch saw it as evidence of a ‘preventive counter-revolution’ and a ‘dangerous new international alliance’. With the Russian Revolution and the resulting socialist republic as their doomsday scenario, Europe’s old ruling and business elites – or at least those that had survived the First World War – had quickly found common ground, however uncomfortable, with those who could not only summon nationalist mobs but could also safeguard at least some capitalist structures and, so it seemed, offer protection for the status quo. In this sense, fascism became a ‘counter-revolution against a revolution that never took place’ at a time when the common goal of most European heads of state – whether the elected leaders of Britain and France or the dictator of Italy – was to ‘create conditions which will make impossible any independent movement of the European working class for a long time to come’.24


Adolf Hitler’s divisive policies were thus supported or appeased by many in London. Warning parliament in 1934 against condemning the National Socialist German Workers’ Party, former prime minister David Lloyd-George reasoned that Hitler and ‘the Nazis’ were ‘destined to be the most reliable bulwark against communism in Europe’.25 In a 1936 interview with the Washington Post he went further, rationalizing that Hitler’s attacks on trade unions and freedom of expression were justifiable on the grounds that Germans were an order-loving and ‘highly disciplined people’, and thus the situation could not be compared with anything in Britain or elsewhere.26 In a follow-up article in the Daily Express, he even declared Hitler ‘as immune from criticism as a king in a monarchical country. He is something more. He is the George Washington of Germany.’27


In the early stages of the Second World War, senior US politicians, like future president Harry Truman, were delighted at first by Germany’s invasion of the Soviet Union: Truman remarked that ‘if Russia is winning, we ought to help Germany, and that way let them kill as many as possible, although I don’t want to see Hitler victorious in any circumstance.’ But long before the war itself, the perceived strategic usefulness of a fascist Berlin–Rome axis was readily apparent. Beginning in 1936, the Spanish Civil War saw almost all of the old European counter-revolutionary strategies deployed with vigour and ruthlessness against the republic of Spain. With its progressive 1931 constitution, and with both its heads of state and government democratically elected, the new ‘free’ Spain was considered a product of both mass mobilization and the successful dismantling of an old political order representing traditional elites.28 Still on the scene, the Carlists were pushing for a restoration of the monarchy and unsurprisingly had the support of clergymen agitated by the new state’s secular legislation. But this time their alliance was much stronger as it included the Spanish nationalists – the Falange – who were backed by the new transnational network of corporate-authoritarian regimes taking root across Europe.29 Most dramatically, and in a throwback to the hordes of foreign fighters that fought alongside the Russian White Movement, more than a hundred thousand Moroccan mercenaries were airlifted over to Spain, many of them by Nazi Germany’s Luftwaffe, to serve the nationalists as the ‘Army of Africa’.30


Clearly identifying the war as a fascist counter-revolution, and fearful of the demise of the hope-bringing Spanish republic, people all over Europe volunteered to fight and to bring weapons and aid with them. Although officially neutral, the British government made it a criminal offence for its citizens to travel to Spain, and Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden testified that his government preferred a nationalist victory to a republican one.31 Meanwhile, Britain had not only permitted the nationalists to set up a signals base on Gibraltar but also granted overfly rights for the German–Moroccan mercenary supply route. The German chargé d’affaires in Madrid even reported back to Berlin that Britain was supplying ammunition to the nationalists.32 Although the US Congress had passed a resolution banning the export of arms to Spain, this did not stop several of its major automotive corporations sending over twelve thousand trucks to support the nationalists. When the war was over the new undersecretary of the Spanish foreign ministry claimed that ‘without American petroleum and American trucks, and American credit, we could never have won the civil war.’33


With Moscow widely considered to have been outplayed in Spain by Hitler and Mussolini, the spectre of a mighty Soviet Union spreading its revolution across the continent seemed to have finally faded. But in many ways this line of thinking obscured important developments within Russia itself. Having only barely achieved Marx’s baseline of ‘low communism’, and still being what Trotsky would call a ‘transitional regime’, Moscow by this stage was increasingly being dominated by an army and bureaucracy that had ‘grown into a hitherto unheard of apparatus of compulsion’. The bureaucracy had turned into an ‘uncontrolled force dominating the masses’ while the army had ‘not been replaced by an armed people... and had given birth to a privileged officers’ caste, crowned with marshals’. Going further, Trotsky reasoned that the Russia now headed by General Secretary Joseph Stalin was wholly incompatible with the workers’ state envisioned by Marx, Engels, and Lenin, and in many ways was just as anti-revolutionary as the Thermidorian regime.34


Korsch similarly believed that the Soviet Union by then had already ‘abandoned its original revolutionary and proletarian features at home’ and this meant that on an international level it was increasingly participating in ‘the game of imperialistic politics, in military alliances with certain groups of bourgeois states against other groups of bourgeois states’. It also meant that Moscow, like the fascist powers, was ‘contributing its full share to what in the highly deceptive language of modern bourgeois diplomacy is called a furtherance of peace and collective security’.35 Indeed, as per Lenin’s earlier warnings of ‘reactionary utopias’ and Trotsky’s ‘pacifist illusions’, Stalin’s Kremlin was soon engaging with Geneva’s courts of arbitration, and the Western powers’ various disarmament programmes.36 Joining the League of Nations in 1934, Stalin himself described the imperialist nations that underpinned it as ‘friends of peace’.37


In this sense the once revolutionary Soviet Union, ever more dominated by its ‘cult of bureaucratic elites’, was now closely resembling its purported European enemies. Those Russians who began to speak of the need for the ‘state’ to come to an end, as the Bolsheviks originally proposed, were soon deemed ‘counter-revolutionary’.38 Meanwhile, Moscow’s foreign policy had, in Trotsky’s words, ‘liberated itself from the programme of international revolution’ and, with reference to the global workers’ movement, ‘the Communist International [became] a completely submissive apparatus in the service of Soviet foreign policy, ready at any time for any zigzag whatever’.39


With Russia gripped by its own internal counter-revolution, it is not surprising that the Spanish republic was left to flounder. Some Soviet aid certainly did arrive, but it was limited in scope, and if anything, as historian Anthony Beevor describes, Moscow was actually hostile to many of Madrid’s reforms, including its efforts to set up Bolshevik-like workers’ assemblies to run factories and farming collectives.40 Beyond Spain, the Kremlin even seemed willing to deal directly with the fascist powers, having played an ‘equivocal role’ in the Italo-Abyssinian War of 1935–6, so as not to harm its valuable Italian trade links, and of course with its foreign minister, Vyacheslav Molotov, signing a non-aggression pact with his German counterpart, Joachim von Ribbentrop, in 1939. In a betrayal of the people of Eastern Europe and the Baltics, the deadly secret protocol agreed to carve up Poland, Romania, Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia, and Finland into German and Soviet ‘spheres of influence’ before eventual new ‘territorial and political arrangements’ could be put in place.41


BRITAIN’S HUNGRY EMPIRE


Having limped through the Second World War as technical victors, but still licking their wounds from the blowback of unbridled fascism and the devastation wrought by their adversaries’ armies, the surviving global empires of Britain and France were in full-scale retreat. With repeated uprisings and national liberation movements chipping away at overseas possessions, their officials and planners were already expert in devising strategies aimed at blocking or reversing indigenous challenges. But with increasingly resource-intensive heavy industries based on new technologies requiring vast imports of basic materials at a cheap and stable price from their remaining colonies and protectorates, such imperial counter-revolutionary efforts had to become much more focused on what was now the greatest threat of all: economic nationalism. For Britain in particular, the enemy insurgents it was facing by the mid-twentieth century were no longer being measured by their ideology, religion, or barbarity, but quite clearly by their capacity to nationalize resources and industries or, at the very least, build states capable of demanding greater stakes in the local production of wealth.


Erupting in 1948, the twelve-year-long ‘emergency’ in British-controlled Malaya vividly illustrates this important shift. With South-East Asia already identified by the Foreign Office as a ‘substantial economic asset and a net earner of dollars’, and with the colony of Malaya alone estimated to be worth an enormous $145 million annual surplus, its ongoing stability was unquestionably vital for British industry. Giving plenty of detail, a Colonial Office report from 1950 noted that Malaya’s rubber and tin industries were in fact Britain’s biggest earners of foreign currency across the whole empire, with seventy percent of the rubber estates owned by British and other European companies.42 In 1952 Lord Ogmore told the House of Lords that Malaya’s resources ‘have very largely supported the standard of living of the people [of Britain] and the sterling area ever since the war ended; what we should do without Malaya, and its earnings in tin and rubber, I do not know.’ Although he argued for the need to diversify Malaya’s economy further, he only envisaged ‘more and diverse cash crops, such as cocoa, palm oil and the rest’.43


As for Britain’s response to the uprising, the Colonial Office was quick to brand it a ‘war against bandits [that] is very much a war in defence of the rubber industry’.44 Meanwhile, British officials on the ground referred to their enemies as ‘communist terrorists’ or ‘CTs’ for short.45 In reality of course, those supporting the Malayan People’s Liberation Army had far more deep-rooted grievances, as much of Malaya’s ethnically Chinese population felt greatly exploited and discriminated against, especially as they made up a significant portion of the low-paid labour force, and because many had earlier fought alongside Britain against Japan. Although a rights-protecting constitution had been drafted by the colonial authorities when the war was over, Britain’s local client rulers – the hereditary Malay sultans – objected on the grounds it gave ‘too many rights to the immigrants’ and that it allowed the Malayan Communist Party, which was mostly but not entirely made up of ethnic Chinese, to become a legal entity. As a former British official describes, the sultans displayed their displeasure in a variety of ways, including symbolic no-shows at airport greeting ceremonies. Extensively reworked, the constitution eventually introduced by the Colonial Office in 1948 thus became an explosive act of appeasement as it permanently consigned all of the Chinese along with other immigrants to second-class or even non-citizen status underneath the more compliant, pro-British Malay community. Moreover, following a full ban on the Communist Party and a crackdown on trade unions, all such organizations were described at British-led meetings as ‘subversive’.46


With the fuse lit, the Liberation Army was able to recruit widely, and by 1949, with the ascendant and nearby People’s Republic of China catalysing the insurgency, its numbers swelled massively. Initially considering co-opting the local Malay chapter of the Kuomintang nationalists to fight on their behalf, British officials quickly dropped the idea on the grounds that they were just too ‘corrupt and vicious’.47 Instead, the now classic counter-revolutionary strategy of bringing in foreign fighters was adopted, with troops arriving from Australia, Fiji, Rhodesia, and other parts of the empire.48 In parallel, efforts were made to stem the tide of young men joining the rebel movement by providing ‘large cash payments’ to ‘highly productive agents’ working within the Chinese community, along with the creation of ‘strategic hamlets’ or ‘new villages’ on the periphery of cities, which were then kept under close surveillance and curfew. Serving as de facto refugee camps, the idea was that rural populations coming under British bombardment would have little choice but to flee to these areas, thus ‘isolating the insurgency, both physically and politically from the population’ and helping to stop the passing of food from sympathizers to the opposition.49 Put another way, in the words of a British official involved in the strategy, the aim was to ‘deny the CTs support from the communities they had intimidated’.50 In contrast to the flattened countryside, the central district of Malacca was declared a ‘white area’ and was thus exempt from curfews, food controls, and ‘other inconveniences of the emergency’ on the grounds that the citizens of the area were cooperating so loyally.51


In an apparent reference to the ongoing supremacy of British businesses in Malaya, British officials who served during the emergency have since described how their victory in South-East Asia was unique because ‘we stayed to help our friends after independence.’52 But an extensive 1960s Amnesty International report was less forgiving, concluding that the British campaign involved ‘opponents being unreasonably denied the right of full expression and arbitrarily detained’.53 Even greater, it seems, was criticism of the conflict within parliament itself, with MPs repeatedly questioning the veracity of the government’s claims about the actions of the insurgents, including supposed acts of murder and sabotage.54 Furthermore, according to a former official based in Malaya, ‘parliamentarians were critical of [the high commissioner’s] dictatorial ways, and would have been more critical had they known of the speed with which the colonial administrators, with the support of the state war executive committees, could make decisions.’55


With striking similarities, but with an arguably even more violent response, a concurrent British crackdown in the 1950s against the Kenya Land and Freedom Army, known as the Mau Mau, led to many thousands of deaths along with an estimated ninety thousand imprisoned and the confiscation of land from over ten thousand families.56 With its valuable agricultural land, most of which was owned and farmed by European settlers, the colony of Kenya had become a veritable breadbasket for the British Empire. Tensions were understandably running high, with an earlier British East Africa Commission report noting that the ‘treatment of tribes [from the coastal regions] was very bad... [they were] moved backwards and forwards so as to secure for the Crown areas which could be granted to Europeans.’57


Recently declassified official documents demonstrate that the state of emergency – sparked by the killing of a European woman in 1952 – and Britain’s scapegoating of the Mau Mau were in fact ‘covers for halting the rise of popular, nationalist forces that threatened control of [Britain’s] colony’. Justifying this, the attorney-general of the colony had privately portrayed the Mau Mau as a ‘secret underground nationalistic organization which is virulently anti-European’. In reality, as senior British academic David Maughan-Brown has shown, the rebellion was primarily against economic exploitation and administrative repression under colonial rule and, in particular, years of British refusal to listen to requests for land or constitutional reform. Problematically, however, the British government was unable to link convincingly the Mau Mau’s land nationalization ambitions to international communism, with the Colonial Office admitting, ‘There is no evidence that communism or communist agents have had any direct or indirect part in the organization.’58


Instead officials had to depict the Mau Mau as ‘gangsters who indulged in cannibalism, witchcraft, devil worship and sexual orgies and who terrorized white settlers and mutilated women and children’.59 Others similarly tried to describe the movement as being based on ‘perverted tribalism’.60 Writing in much the same sort of racist and one-sided terms was Ian Henderson, the Scottish colonial police officer credited with resolving the emergency by capturing the Mau Mau’s leader. Awarded the George Medal for his acts of civilian bravery, his book Man Hunt in Kenya received an unusually favourable review from the CIA’s historical department, which described it as ‘a fascinating and well-written book’.61


As an important epilogue to the conflict, a recent legal battle in Britain involving representatives and descendants of the Mau Mau, seeking compensation for the losses and the denigration of their ancestors, led to the rediscovery of formerly ‘lost’ Colonial Office archival material. Known as the ‘migrated archives’, their contents revealed the full extent of British human rights abuses over the course of the eight-year-long counter-insurgency, including multiple instances of torture, rape, and execution.62 In 2011, the Guardian suggested that ‘the documents [had been] hidden away to protect the guilty’, while The Times noted that ‘thirteen boxes of top secret files are still missing.’63 Given the weight of evidence, in 2012, the High Court in London ruled that the elderly Kenyan survivors were entitled to sue the British government for damages.64


THE THREAT FROM ARAB NATIONALISM


Since its secret Sykes–Picot agreement with France that effectively carved up the territories of the crumbling Ottoman Empire in the wake of the First World War, Britain’s grip over much of the Middle East and its resources had been more or less uncontested. But by the 1950s, and certainly the 1960s, a potent pan-Arab movement was threatening to unseat remaining British client rulers in the region and jeopardize lucrative trade arrangements and control over valuable natural resources. With ‘classic nationalism [having become] impotent’ in the Middle East, as veteran correspondent Patrick Seale described, many of the new ‘Arab nationalist’ revolts were effectively military operations, often led by army officers intent on forcibly removing foreign influences from their countries. Described by some as ‘armed plotters waiting in the wings, legitimized by a third world discourse’,65 the Arab nationalist uprisings and revolutions may have had little in common with the progressive movements of mid-nineteenth-century Europe, but, as illiberal as they were, they nonetheless represented one of the most organized and potent challenges to imperial structures Britain had ever faced.


The gravity of the situation was not lost on London: Foreign Office reports warned of Middle Eastern ruling elites ‘losing their authority to reformist or revolutionary movements which might reject the connexion with Britain’; official references were made to the dangers of ‘ultra-nationalist maladies’; and the cabinet secretary informed the prime minister in no uncertain terms that ‘we are fighting a losing battle propping up these reactionary regimes.’66 According to a particularly candid 1952 Foreign Office study entitled The problem of nationalism, there were two strains to watch out for. The first was ‘intelligent and satisfied nationalism’ which was not very well defined but seemed to involve Britain being able to divert inevitable nationalist sentiments into regimes that would ‘minimize losses to Britain’. The other, however, was likely to be very harmful to British interests as it would lead to new governments that would ‘insist on managing their own affairs... including the dismissing of British advisers, the appropriation of British assets, unilateral denunciation of treaties with Britain, and claims on British possessions’.67 Declassified documents from 1961 have shown that British officials were even wary of the ‘force of liberalism’ in such countries for much the same reason.68


Egypt, the most populous Arab state and the centre of the region’s cultural production due to most publishing and print houses being based there, was where the cost of losing influence was undoubtedly the greatest. Having weathered a rebellion in 1919, in which more than eight hundred predominantly non-violent street protestors were killed by British troops, and having ended its formal protectorate three years later, Britain had since been ruling by proxy through two descendants of Muhammad Ali – the former Ottoman governor or pasha of Egypt. Upgraded from sultan to king in 1922, the first of these was Fuad I, who was then succeeded by his son Farouk in 1936.69 When it launched its revolution in 1952 the ‘Free Officers’ movement led by Muhammad Naguib and, more prominently, Gamal Abdel Nasser was thus quick to abolish the monarchy and establish a republic. As feared, it was also committed to the speedy nationalization of resources and assets, mostly at the expense of British and other European companies. Although Arab Marxists such as Samir Amin have questioned the true revolutionary credentials of the ‘Nasserists’ on the basis that army officers and bourgeois were at the forefront, with no significant participation from the masses, others have noted that the Nasserists were nonetheless the first of a wave of Arab nationalist movements that ‘propelled into power leaders ideologically committed to building the state as the primary instrument for reforming society and achieving [both] national and pan-Arab goals’.70 Moreover, as literary theorist Ahmad Aijaz argues, ‘The Nasserists introduced fundamental systemic shifts very swiftly through such measures as abolishing the monarchy as well as feudal privileges, redistributing landholdings, restructuring foreign alignments... building a public sector and adopting a whole host of policies that favoured the poorer and the lower middle classes.’71


Even more troublingly for London, courtesy of ‘agents, political support, the powerful voice of radio in Cairo, and by virtue of his charismatic appeal’, Nasser soon became the effective leader of a region-wide independence movement.72 Moreover, after statements made in 1955 at a conference in Bandung, Indonesia, his version of Arab nationalism became an explicitly anti-imperialist project.73 Thus, unlike the narrowly focused national liberation movements British planners had had to contend with before, there was a growing concern that Nasser might try to form some sort of Arab superstate, especially if he was able to unify Egypt with other Arab states and perhaps even spark revolt in the Gulf sheikhdoms. Such a nightmare scenario would have led to a manpower- and resource-rich greater Arab republic or, as US president Dwight Eisenhower warned, Nasser would become the head of an ‘enormous Muslim confederation’.74


As with the Mau Mau, it proved difficult to link Nasser to a global communist plot as he himself ‘suppressed the Egyptian left and the various communist parties vigorously’.75 Even the Foreign Office internally decided Nasser was ‘avowedly anti-Communist [and] unfortunately... strongly neutralist’.76 According to subsequent Foreign Office documents, this was a serious problem as it meant that Nasser’s ‘neutralist position fits in with the desire of the regime to show that Egypt can stand up to Western powers on equal terms’.77 Even worse, Nasser was proving to be quite an adept administrator, with Britain’s ambassador admitting that the new government was ‘as good as any previous... and in one respect better than any, in that it is trying to do something for the people of Egypt rather than merely talk about it’.78 Eisenhower’s public comments notwithstanding, elements of the US government also seemed to have formed a favourable impression, with declassified reports having revealed fairly close relations with Nasser’s government, at least in the early days.79


Britain’s need for a counter-revolution nevertheless soon took on a great urgency, as the safety of shipping routes through the Suez Canal and access to its remaining interests in the region were deemed to be at risk. As early as 1953 Prime Minister Anthony Eden reportedly considered a British-sponsored coup d’état, with Nasser’s colleague Naguib identified as a possible frontman.80 Referred to by the New York Times as ‘Kerensky with a Fez’ in reference to his potential role as an Arab equivalent of the prominent anti-Bolshevik leader Alexander Kerensky, and with Nasser branded ‘Egypt’s Lenin’, the stage seemed set. Eden even told a Foreign Office minister that in the event of Nasser’s removal, ‘I don’t give a damn if there’s anarchy and chaos in Egypt.’81


Importantly, in another parallel with the White Movement and the co-opting of the Turkmen Islamists, Britain also sought to manipulate Naguib’s connections to the Muslim Brotherhood, as Nasser was seemingly reliant on his co-leader’s not-so-secular background to appease the increasingly powerful Islamist organization.82 The relationship between Britain and the Brotherhood was of course nothing new, as ever since its formal founding in 1928 it had been identified as primarily an anti-nationalist and anti-liberal vehicle rather than a pro-democracy movement, even though its most prominent ideologue, Hassan al-Banna, publicly endorsed the parliamentary system and constitutionalism.83 Its chief rival before Nasser had been the anti-British nationalist Wafd Party, and on this basis the building of the Ismailia mosque, which was to become the Brotherhood’s first headquarters, was even funded by the Anglo-French Suez Canal Company.84


For London, this fitted well within a broader existing strategy for North-East Africa to ensure the loyalty of religious conservatives, with Britain concurrently supporting Sayyid Abd al-Rahman, the Mahdist leader in Sudan and the son of Muhammad Ahmad bin Abd Allah, who had proclaimed himself the messianic redeemer of the Islamic faith in the late nineteenth century.85 By the 1930s the Brotherhood was already proving useful to Britain, with its paramilitary ‘rovers’ enlisted to provide security at King Farouk’s coronation. It enjoyed growing support from conservative army officers and, according to Richard Mitchell’s definitive study of the organization, most Egyptian landowners regarded it as an ally.86 As investigative journalist Robert Dreyfuss notes, the Brotherhood’s dedication to founding an Islamic state should not on paper have been compatible with collaborating so closely with foreign imperial powers, but given its well-documented relations with both the royal palace and British officials, its leaders were in practice quite comfortable being ‘double-dealers and agents’.87


Although the Brotherhood’s activities during the Second World War greatly strained the relationship, Britain still managed to keep the connection alive, with the Islamists’ immense long-term strategic value continuing to outweigh any concerns. At one point, for example, Brotherhood leaders appeared to have found common ground with German agents, with former CIA officer Miles Copeland having described the organization as ‘virtually a German intelligence unit’, while others claimed German officers were helping to set up its military wing. In 1941 elements within British intelligence regarded the Brotherhood as the biggest danger to the security of their position in Egypt, a view which seemed well founded after several subsequent assassinations, including those of a police chief and a cabinet minister. Bomb attacks in the late 1940s against British troops in the Suez Canal Zone were also linked to the Brotherhood, as was the discovery of a substantial cache of weapons and a plot to overthrow the monarchy in 1948. Although then officially dissolved, the Brotherhood still claimed responsibility for the assassination of Egypt’s prime minister later in the year while – in an apparent tit-for-tat – al-Banna himself was killed in 1949.88 With a retrospective MI6 report confirming that the latter’s ‘murder was inspired by the government, with palace approval’, it was apparently justified on the grounds that ‘so long as he was at liberty, he was likely to prove an embarrassment to the [Egyptian] government.’89


With relations inevitably at an all-time low, some Brotherhood supporters even began to endorse the Free Officers’ revolution when it began, with members taking part in ‘Cairo burning’ anti-British riots, and its leaders ‘lending the revolutionary leaders important domestic support’.90 Nonetheless, despite the manifold dangers of continued collaboration, Britain was quick to rehabilitate most of the Brotherhood’s members, including Nazi sympathizers and those who had incited anti-Zionist and anti-British riots in Jerusalem.91 In 1954 both MI6 and the CIA began considering a plan to assassinate Nasser with Brotherhood assistance, with a CIA telegram to London stating that they had ‘been in contact with suitable elements in Egypt and in the rest of the Arab World’.92 The US ambassador in Cairo had also been holding secret meetings with the Brotherhood’s senior leadership, who had told him they would ‘be glad to see several of the Free Officers eliminated’.93 According to one former CIA agent, ‘the Agency was involved in a covert operation – a very inept one I might add – relying on members of the ancien régime who could overthrow him, mostly figures tied to the old regime – landowners, industrialists, and other old enemies of Nasser’s. It was a futile project.’94 Another former CIA agent has described how these plots could co-opt the Muslim Brotherhood on the basis that ‘if Allah decided political assassination was permissible, that was fine... so long as no one talked about it in polite company... Like any other truly effective covert action, this one was strictly off the books... All the White House had to do was give a wink and a nod to countries harbouring the Muslim Brothers, like Saudi Arabia and Jordan.’95


Rather far-sightedly, when Nasser eventually began to crack down on the Brotherhood in 1954 and sought to marginalize Naguib after a number of Islamist attacks on secular students at Cairo University, the government decree that banned the organization was justified on the grounds that ‘the revolution will never allow reactionary corruption to recur in the name of religion.’ In October that year, however, a Brotherhood member managed to fire eight shots at Nasser.96 Although some suggest this attempt was stage managed, providing a pretext for Nasser to finish off Naguib, who was promptly placed under house arrest, there seems little doubt Nasser was by then a heavily marked man, especially given the long list of further assassination attempts. Despite Prime Minister Winston Churchill sending Nasser a message after one such Brotherhood plot saying, ‘I congratulate you on your escape from the dastardly attack made on your life,’ Britain was in fact directly involved in a number of attempts of its own, ranging from the use of poisoned darts and coffee to even poisoned chocolates.97 More complex were its efforts to enlist regional proxies, including bribes paid to Bedouin tribesmen in Jordan to kill Nasser when he entered the country, and an assassination plot later revealed by the Syrian army chief that implicated a Syrian member of the Saudi king’s court. The latter, it seemed, had received substantial payments so that he could organize the shooting down of Nasser’s aircraft as it landed in Damascus.98


With Nasser still very much alive in 1956, Britain had to switch to a more drastic ‘Plan B’ with a full-blown military intervention. Despite having signed a legal agreement with the Egyptian government in 1954, which allowed Britain to retain military basing rights at the Suez Canal, London had begun conspiring with Paris and the infant Israeli state, while also renewing its discussions with the Brotherhood, which by this time had had to shift its headquarters to Geneva.99 The complication in the scheme, which centred on forcibly taking control of the canal, was that the plot was too obviously an old-fashioned imperialist manoeuvre. To get around this, Israel was to go in first, seemingly independently, and would then later be backed up by Britain and France reacting to the ‘unexpected’ and fast-moving events.100


With the planned operation apparently too heavy-handed for the White House’s liking, the US media reported fears that it would provoke a backlash across the whole Arab world that could play into the hands of the Soviet Union.101 An alternative view, however, is that the US was privately willing to support the Anglo-French invasion, but only if it was done very quickly and did not aggravate rising Cold War tensions in Europe, and especially the situation in Budapest. According to correspondence between a US Department of State official and a CIA officer given the task of liaising with Britain, the former claimed, ‘We’ll back them up if they do it fast. [But] what we can’t stand is their goddam hesitation, waltzing while Hungary is burning.’102


Surviving this spectrum of efforts to destroy it, the fledgling Egyptian republic proved resilient and was arguably stronger than ever by the time of Nasser’s death from natural causes in 1970. Indeed, even its military defeat by Israel three years earlier had been carefully manipulated by Nasser into an opportunity to remove remaining military opponents from power.103 Chosen to succeed by a trio of Nasser’s closest advisers, Anwar Sadat was seen as the best temporary solution, but unsettlingly for many he had quickly begun to seek out his own allies, including semi-feudal elements of the old regime, who sought to regain their political and economic networks, and even the outlawed Brotherhood. That he considered the latter a powerful counterweight to both left-wing ideologues and Nasserist loyalists dominating the media and cultural institutions should have come as no surprise, as Sadat himself had been a Brotherhood sympathizer in the 1940s and had claimed it was ‘the perfect organization’. Moreover, he had once praised al-Banna as a ‘true Egyptian’.104


In a far cry from its confrontation with Nasser, who had eventually executed its leading member Sayyid Qutb in 1966 after the publication of the controversial Milestones, the Brotherhood’s other leaders were quickly released from prison by Sadat on the condition that they publicly rejected Qutb’s more extremist writings.105 With Sadat then enshrining Islam in the constitution, releasing many more Brotherhood members from prison, and allowing exiles to return from Saudi Arabia,106 the informal alliance continued to strengthen. Ending his speeches with a Qur’anic verse, regularly appearing on television praying in mosques, and even beginning to describe himself as the ‘believer president’, Sadat was clearly beginning to take on some of the mantle of Islamic caliph.107


With his religious conservative allies in place, Sadat’s main purge took place in May 1971 when most Nasser-era officials were removed from office including several ministers and Nasser’s old security chiefs. Despite himself having once lauded the ‘men from the army whom we trust in their ability, their character and their patriotism’, Sadat accused them of using ‘inane socialist slogans’ and claimed he needed to perform a ‘second revolution’.108 Predictably supported by the religious establishment and academia, Sadat even oversaw the prestigious Al-Azhar University entering into relations with Saudi Arabia in a move since described as its ‘capture by the right once again, ending the role it had been developing as a more balanced, and non-fundamentalist, Islamic centre’. Soon after, and as something of a final stage, Sadat also undertook full government restructuring, with the creation of the post of deputy prime minister for religious affairs and the establishment of a new Supreme Committee for Introducing Legislation According to the Sharia.109


The extent and rapidity of Sadat’s Islamist-assisted counter-revolution surprised even Moscow when in 1971 he expelled all Soviet personnel from Egypt, seemingly as part of a deal brokered by Saudi intelligence chief Kamal Adham who had promised aid to Cairo in return. As some suggest, Saudi Arabia may have also been offering to help get US support to facilitate the return to Egypt of land held by Israel.110 After all, as the former US secretary of state Henry Kissinger notes, because the US had no embassy in Cairo during this period, Saudi Arabia was relied upon as the intermediary.111 Either way, and even if it dismayed many of his Brotherhood backers, just seven years later Sadat was in a strong enough position to sign off on the Egypt–Israel Peace Treaty following his Camp David Accords with Israeli prime minister Menachem Begin and US president Jimmy Carter. An unthinkable prospect under the revolutionary Nasser administration, Sadat’s increasingly Islamist and Saudi-aligned Egypt seemed to have joined the ranks of Western proxies in exchange for the promise of billions of dollars of annual aid for its military.112


TROUBLE ON THE ARABIAN PENINSULA – REVOLUTION REACHES YEMEN


As Britain feared, the rising star of Arab nationalism and the fast-spreading popularity of Nasser soon reached its strategically vital protectorates and colonies along the southern shores of the Arabian Peninsula. At stake was not only Yemen’s natural harbour in Aden, but also control over a key shipping lane that passed from the Indian Ocean into the Red Sea through a twenty-mile-wide strait called the Bab el-Mandeb or ‘Gate of Tears’. With a growing realization that organized nationalist movements could easily secure a foothold in such territories, Britain also faced the alarming prospect of a contagion effect into its other possessions on the Arabian Peninsula including the hitherto placid sheikhdoms of the Persian Gulf with which it had held peace treaties for more than a century.113 Having allowed for a low-cost informal network of truce-based or ‘Trucial’ states, Britain had promised to fortify their dynastic ruling families from both external and internal threats in exchange for guarantees that pirates would not be harboured in their ports and, by the late nineteenth century, that all foreign relations would be conducted through British-appointed ‘native agents’.114 Stretching across most of the Arab littoral of the de facto ‘British Lake’, the unswerving loyalty of these pseudo-potentates gave Britain almost exclusive access to the island harbour of Bahrain, the water inlets of Dubai and Sharjah, and the Strait of Hormuz chokepoint at the mouth of the Persian Gulf.


Having ignored UN requests to withdraw its troops from Aden and allow self-determination, and after trying to merge the city’s colonial government into an unpopular ‘Federation of Southern Arabia’ alongside various Yemeni sheikhdoms, sultanates, and other entities, by 1963 Britain’s position was increasingly precarious. According to Amnesty International ‘a significant section of the population of Aden state’ bitterly opposed its forced federation, and conditions were ripe for the growth of both a new Marxist-Leninist inspired National Liberation Front and its rival, the Arab nationalist Front for the Liberation of Occupied South Yemen.115 Initially bribing tribal elders and adopting a mixture of police-based counter-insurgency strategies, including many honed from its Malayan and Kenyan campaigns, Britain nonetheless soon went further by bombing rebellious villages to the west of Aden and launching a repressive crackdown in the city itself. The International Red Cross was repeatedly denied access to Aden for two years, and when Britain’s Amnesty International delegate finally arrived in 1966 he claimed he was ‘refused all facilities’. Sweden’s Amnesty delegate had however managed to gain access and collected a large number of personal affidavits alleging widespread physical torture and degrading treatment, many of which were backed up by a range of respected Aden civil society organizations including the jurists’ and teachers’ associations. Disturbingly, in ‘non-attributable comments’ given to the British media by Whitehall officials, the Swede was described as being untrustworthy due to his Egyptian origin.116 Nonetheless, with the situation deteriorating, criticism soon emerged from within Britain’s own ranks when the chief justice of Aden, Sir Richard le Gallaise, claimed that detainees were being handed over to the much-reviled Sultanate of Fadhli – a constituent of the new federation and one of the main reasons why many of Aden’s residents protested at their inclusion.117


To make matters worse, by the early 1960s the British-backed Imam Ahmad bin Yahya Hamidaddin, the ruler of mountainous northern Yemen and the spiritual leader of its Zaydi-Shia majority, was also coming under severe pressure. Not only poverty stricken and with minimal education and no basic women’s rights, his religiously conservative fiefdom was also deeply sectarian with only a small number of aristocrats from within the Zaydi-Shia sect being able to access economic or political opportunities while most of the Sunni Muslim population were left marginalized.118 Described by historian Joe Stork as a clear case of ‘Britain following a policy [of] arming and subsidizing ruling families to preserve... and perpetuate an archaic and decaying social order’ so as to prevent Yemeni claims for sovereignty or the encroachment of other foreign powers, even Ahmad’s own subjects referred to their country as mutakhallif or ‘backwards’.119


With Ahmad ruling autocratically and with a reputation for brutality, campaigns had begun for at least some sort of reform. Heavily influenced by revolutionary ideologies and clearly inspired by Nasser, a number of army officers came to the fore in 1961 to lead a ‘free Yemeni movement’ and were even joined by some of Ahmad’s relatives, including one of his brothers. Following some injudicious indirect criticism of Nasser from Ahmad, an assassination attempt was soon made, and in 1962 the battle lines began to be drawn. Even though Ahmad then died from natural causes and was succeeded by his son Muhammad al-Badr Hamidaddin, who quickly declared an amnesty for nationalist sympathizers in the army, the family’s palace came under tank fire within just a week and Muhammad was forced into a swift exile.120 Political scientist Fred Halliday deemed this to have been a nationalist revolution on the basis that the ruling dynasty’s land was then confiscated, and he also argued that North Yemen had become the only truly independent state on the Arabian Peninsula.121 With some British officials grudgingly acknowledging that the new officer-led government was more popular and democratic than the oppressive old regime, even the US seemed to approve, with a chief aide to President John Kennedy warning that ‘the House of Saud well knows it could be next.’122


Despite Washington’s views and the UN’s eventual recognition of the republic, Britain was far from ready to relinquish its long-running influence in northern Yemen. With political solutions clearly a non-starter, London’s counter-revolution quickly escalated into a full-blown campaign of air strikes. Most infamously, in March 1964, Royal Air Force aircraft that had flown up from Aden launched a bombing run over Fort Harib in the Marib province. Described by the Sunday Times as being ‘virtually defenceless against 600 mph jets’, twenty-five people were understood to have died in the fort including women and children. After stating that ‘if they were civilian casualties they were either put into the fort or not removed from it despite the leaflet warning,’ a Foreign Office minister then told parliament that ‘we do not know how many casualties were suffered by Yemeni military personnel in Harib fort. We regret any loss of life which may have occurred despite the warning given by leaflet.’123 It was reported, however, that only a fifteen-minute warning was given, and according to Durham University’s Clive Jones, ‘Many of the bundles failed to disperse on impact and it is doubtful if many could actually read the leaflets because of high levels of illiteracy.’124


By the end of the year the officers’ republic was still standing, having been boosted by the arrival of senior Egyptian commanders and – at one point – close to seventy thousand Egyptian troops. As the conflict’s international significance grew, and keen to bolster a new Arab nationalist republic, even Nasser visited the area on the basis that it had become a true struggle against ‘reaction’.125 Accused by British officials of using mustard gas and suspected of trying to link the northern revolution with the uprisings around Aden, the Egyptians’ volatile presence soon provoked an even more intensive counter-revolutionary campaign. Mobilizing its Arab allies and clients, including the kingdoms of Jordan and Saudi Arabia, both of which were keen to curry favour with London, Britain was mindful of the need to avoid unwanted international attention and tried to ensure that as much of the work as possible was left in the hands of its proxies. Following purportedly Saudi-led air strikes and the heavy Saudi financing of village elders in the far north of Yemen, a number of irregular tribal militias duly began to rise up against the republic and quickly gained control over about half of northern Yemen’s rugged highlands.126


As implausible as it sounds, Britain’s role in assisting Saudi Arabia was initially denied, despite lurid accusations in the Arabic press that over three hundred British, French, and other fighters had been covertly deployed among the tribes. In July 1964, when things had really started to get going, Prime Minister Alec Douglas-Home stated in parliament that he had been assured by the high commissioner for Aden that the government was not aware of the involvement of British mercenaries. However, only the next day he sent a memorandum to Foreign Secretary Richard ‘Rab’ Butler in which he decreed that Britain ‘should make life intolerable [for Nasser] with money and arms’, and that this ‘should be deniable if possible’. Based on this, a secret committee was formed to handle further British actions in northern Yemen.127


Published a few years later Halliday’s study of the conflict provides perhaps the most detail, citing a former British SAS colonel who described the campaign and his role in it as being part of a ‘deliberate attempt to overthrow a government of which Britain disapproved, but where Britain did not want to be seen to intervene directly’. Halliday also proves that pilots supplied by the British Aircraft Corporation to Saudi Arabia as support staff were those actually flying the Saudi jets on their operational missions across the Yemeni border.128 According to British academic Stephen Dorril, MI6 was also providing logistical assistance to the Saudi-backed fighters while funds earmarked for Britain’s overseas aid programme were being secretly redirected to support the war.129


As with Suez, Israel also appears to have played a significant part, with the British government having approached Mossad to provide instructors and trainers for the tribal militias, and with Israel’s defence attaché in London having reportedly promised to supply Yemeni Jews who had earlier emigrated to Israel and who could ‘pass themselves off as Arabs’. Understood to have been an opportunity that ‘the Saudis eagerly grasped’, Israel also began to furnish Riyadh with Soviet-made weapons it had earlier seized from conflicts of its own, and according to a former US official it used its air force to patrol the Red Sea so as to signal to Egypt to keep its distance from Saudi Arabia.130 Less is known about US involvement, although US special forces may have had some sort of role, with a former US ambassador having claimed that during this period ‘Kennedy was screwing around with all sorts of covert operations and the Green Berets in Arabia.’131


Flattening out into a long and exhausting stalemate, the conflict finally came to an inconclusive end in 1970 after a Saudi–Egyptian peace agreement was reached. Greatly damaged by several years of civil war, and exacerbated by the bloody and clandestine interventions of several foreign powers, the new Yemen Arab Republic that emerged was widely considered a ‘deformed state’. Having reluctantly recognized that the northern nationalist revolutionaries were less of a threat than the increasingly powerful Marxist National Liberation Front in the south of Yemen, which was already espousing the need to erase tribal hierarchies and other traditional political structures, Saudi Arabia – and by extension Britain – nonetheless continued to foment unrest in the north. Having come to power in 1974 as part of a ‘corrective coup’ within the military, and seeking to stamp out bribery, decadence, and remaining aristocratic privileges, President Ibrahim al-Hamdi was assassinated in 1977, most likely by Saudi agents.132 As a Yemen Arab Republic minister put it, the murder was precipitated because of ‘[al-Hamdi’s] trying to stop corruption, trying to curb tribalism, and trying to establish a state’.133


Meanwhile, in the south, even though the National Liberation Front had succeeded in setting up its own People’s Democratic Republic of Yemen, it remained harassed by well-funded militias formed by former south Yemeni exiles who were flooding back across the border from Saudi Arabia.134 More seriously, after changing its name to the Yemeni Socialist Party in 1978 and then openly aligning itself with the Soviet Union, the National Liberation Front faced an even more concerted campaign against it including covert operations aimed at destroying physical infrastructure and killing government officials.135 While direct links between these attacks and Western intelligence agencies are hard to establish, both MI6 and the CIA are known to have trained small teams to blow up Yemeni bridges in the early 1980s, and in 1982 the Yemeni Socialist Party announced that an ‘MI6–CIA plot’ had been uncovered involving Yemenis who had been trained in Saudi Arabia and had been caught bringing explosives into the country. The New York Times and Reuters reported that ‘the convicted men had brought explosives into southern Yemen as part of a plan to destroy economic installations in Aden’ and, putting it bluntly, explained that the men were charged with ‘engaging in sabotage with the complicity of the US’.136


THE CONTAGION SPREADS – THE SULTANATE OF OMAN


Heavily intertwined with the developments in Yemen, especially in the 1950s and 1960s, was a mounting challenge to Britain’s indirect rule over Oman and the bustling trade hub of Muscat. With the London-registered company Petroleum Development Oman as the country’s primary source of revenue, and with a British bank having held a monopoly over all of Muscat’s finances since 1948, the stability of Said bin Taimur al-Said’s sultanate was paramount to British commercial interests, even if most of Oman languished in an impoverished state. In 1957 a small-scale uprising in the mountainous Nizwa province had greatly rattled Said, even though, as the British ministry for air claimed, it was only made up of ‘simple agricultural tribes’.137 Moreover, given that its leader was a conservative religious figure, Imam Ghalib bin Ali al-Hinai, who was even accused of having nominal support from Saudi Arabia, many dismissed the unrest as a disorganized feud between two reactionary camps rather than as an attempted revolution. Nevertheless, the movement did call itself the Omani Liberation Army, and according to Halliday most of its supporters had joined up to fight against British imperialism.138 Records also indicate that the imam had been elected by some elements of the Nizwa region and, according to descendants of those who fought in the conflict, religion was never a central issue for the rebels.139


Already wary given the increasing agitation around Aden and in northern Yemen, Britain was unwilling to take any chances and crushed the imam’s forces within two years. Fresh from their experiences in Malaya, SAS counter-insurgency specialists were flown in and, to back up Said’s rudimentary army, systematic British airborne attacks were launched against the restive mountain villages, their agricultural crops, and even their livestock.140 According to one Foreign Office memorandum from 1957, three particularly troublesome hamlets had been ‘warned that unless they surrendered the ringleaders of the revolt, they would be destroyed one by one by bombing’.141 Britain’s political resident in Bahrain, its most senior official in the region, similarly recommended bombing as a means of ‘showing the population the power of weapons at our disposal’ and ‘inflicting the maximum inconvenience on the population so that out of discomfort and boredom they will turn against the rebel minority’.142


The truly brutal British operation against Nizwa’s ill-equipped tribesmen, now mostly referred to as the ‘Jebel Akhdar War’, named after the most prominent mountain in the province, earned stiff criticism from the UN. Under the secretary-generalship of the increasingly outspoken Swedish diplomat Dag Hammarskjöld, it stated in 1960 that the operation and the resulting deaths were the results of ‘imperialistic policies and foreign intervention’, and in remarkably candid terms suggested that ‘had it not been for the possibility of oil being discovered in the interior, the action taken by Britain might well have been less drastic and much damage, destruction, human suffering and loss of life might have been avoided.’ By the end of the year the UN General Assembly had adopted a declaration ‘on the granting of independence to colonial countries and peoples’ and had called for steps to be taken for powers to be transferred to people in all ‘trust and non-self-governing territories.’143 More specifically, a few years later the General Assembly stated that Oman’s right to self-determination was being held back by Britain, and it asked Britain to withdraw.144


But with no intention of withdrawing given the stakes involved, Britain and its client al-Said sultans soon entered into a decade-long fight for Oman, following a much more extensive uprising in 1965 in the Dhofar region. Soon organized into a proper revolutionary people’s front, the threat posed by this ‘Monsoon Revolution’ has been described as ‘no backyard police operation’ and that ‘far more than Vietnam it affected control of a major economic asset of the capitalist world – Gulf oil.’145 Its close proximity to Yemen also raised the prospect that it might ally with the various revolutionary fronts across the border, and, according to Halliday, there was concern it could receive assistance from the Arab nationalist republic of Iraq and, soon after, even Muammar Gaddafi’s revolutionary Libya. Faced with this unsettling scenario, it is no surprise that Britain quickly began to implement almost all of the counter-revolutionary strategies it had been deploying and honing in Malaya, Kenya, Yemen, and elsewhere, including the co-opting of traditional religious authorities, cash payments, covert special operations kept hidden from parliament, and the crafting of yet another international coalition of allied powers.146


As with northern Yemen, Nizwa, and most other parts of Oman, Dhofar was similarly backward with ‘no economic development of any kind’. Most importantly its poverty and misery persisted even as Muscat began to receive limited oil revenues and was fast becoming home to hundreds of expatriates from Britain, the US, Germany, Japan, and Sudan. Infrastructure building was becoming increasingly disproportionate and ‘lopsided’ with almost all of the new oil-financed amenities being built in and around the capital. Aware that the Omani government was unlikely to alleviate their situation any time soon, Dhofar’s new ‘People’s Front’ took matters into its own hands, using its limited resources and basic taxes to build the region’s very first schools and medical centres. Agricultural development became a priority with the People’s Front focusing on ‘nationalizing’ water sources on the basis that they always used to cause disputes when left in the hands of government-appointed tribes.147 In contrast, and notwithstanding the needs of the oil industry’s Muscat-based employees, the sultan had been banning the import of medicine, the wearing of shoes and trousers by Omanis, and even talking in public for more than fifteen minutes at a time.148


Britain and Said held on to Dhofar at the beginning, partly by offering tribes ‘material attractions’ for dropping support for the Front, but also by burning villages and having corpses of rebels hung in public, while goats and cows were shot.149 Leaflets were distributed after these attacks stating ‘automatic weapons are out hunting for you... wherever you have crept, they will teach you a lesson, and in the end will kill you all.’ As a good example of British false-flag operations, mines with Soviet markings were also left near watering holes frequented by tribes, so as to discredit the Front. Interestingly, and as an important precedent for further Western-sponsored counter-revolutions, the campaign also involved British-produced propaganda publications that criticized some of the Front’s attempts at basic female emancipation and also vilified its efforts to limit men to having only one wife. These were followed up by leaflets ‘written in bad Arabic by British intelligence officers’ that promised Omani men that they could have four wives again, as per traditional rules, and others featuring defectors saying they had ‘rallied to the cause of the sultan and Islam’. In further efforts to harness traditional religion for their purposes, Britain also encouraged Said’s government to repaint all mosques and hire religious instructors to deploy to Dhofar.150


Officially denying its front-line involvement in the ground war, Britain claimed that the SAS were there only to ‘seek out realistic training situations... but if fired upon, would fire back’.151 Moreover, when replying to a concerned non-governmental organization, a Foreign Office official unequivocally stated: ‘We do not accept your basic premise that Britain is assisting the Sultan of Oman “in his brutal attempt to crush all dissent in his country”.’152 However, as government leaks from the period indicate, it is thought that the early phase of the war involved about a thousand clandestinely deployed special forces.153 As Halliday explains, these were disguised as a ‘British Army training team’ while they were actually taking part in offensive operations and organizing a ‘hearts and minds campaign’ to wrestle tribal support away from the insurgents.154


By 1970, with the rebellion entering its fifth year, and with Said’s legitimacy steadily eroding elsewhere in the country and even in the capital, the campaign began to enter a new and more overt phase. Exiling the unpopular sultan to London and replacing him with his son in a palace coup, British officials responded to media enquiries ‘with amazement’ at suggestions that Britain had had anything to do with it, while a public relations expert was engaged to fend off further queries.155 Since then a number of memoirs have been published by British soldiers based in Oman at the time, including some with direct knowledge of Said’s removal. In one particularly riveting account by Ray Kane, who was part of the team that actually entered the palace, the ensuing gun battle is colourfully described, along with the roles played by other British servicemen, some of whom went on to become long-serving advisers to the Omani ruling family.156 Among these was intelligence officer Tim Landon, the ‘White Sultan’, who died in 2007 as one of Britain’s wealthiest men.157


With the young and less tarnished Qaboos bin Said al-Said as their new figurehead, Britain soon did little to disguise its expanding war effort by ramping up the training of ‘Dhofari irregulars’ in camps erected in loyalist areas. With similarities to the Saudi-financed northern Yemeni tribesmen, these Firqas were recruited from exiles and deserters, as well as those who sought a salary to fight. One of their missions, it seems, was to undo the People’s Front’s efforts to centralize control over water by trying to reclaim water sources on behalf of specific tribes. One battalion was incongruously even named after Nasser, with the Sultan having been advised to try to claim at least some Arab nationalist credentials for himself. Bizarrely, the 1970 coup was even likened on state-controlled radio to the 1952 Egyptian revolution despite obviously having been engineered and carried out by a foreign power.158


The British-managed regular Omani army was soon supplemented by forces from elsewhere in the empire, notably Nepalese Gurkha regiments.159 Regional proxies and clients were again brought on board, playing an even greater role than in Yemen, with Saudi Arabia and the newly formed United Arab Emirates – the British-organized federation that subsumed seven of the Trucial States – sending troops to relieve the Omani forces from routine service in cities so as to free them up for battlefield duty.160 Jordan meanwhile provided several thousand troops along with police and intelligence experts, while Shah Muhammad Reza Pahlavi’s Iran dispatched four thousand soldiers, as well as thirty helicopters to help secure Dhofar’s airspace. Smaller teams from India, Pakistan, and Sudan also arrived, as did a team from the US to provide additional expertise for what had become a truly multi-national counter-insurgency.161


A recent academic article on the Iranian deployment has made the argument that the Shah was acting unilaterally and deployed his troops without prior consultation with Britain or the US.162 But given the heavy integration of the Iranian forces into the British strategy this seems unlikely. Indeed, the Shah’s contingents in Oman were reportedly rotated every few months so that the army could receive British training in counter-insurgency, and there are credible accounts of how in 1975 Iranian naval forces fired fifteen hundred shells at a six-mile stretch of Omani coastline in order to force the population to seek sanctuary in government-held areas.163 In effect these ‘safe areas’, complete with heavily surveilled refugee camps, were the latest incarnation of Britain’s old Malayan ‘strategic hamlets’ system.


THE SMALLER SHEIKHDOMS – PREVENTIVE MEASURES


Elsewhere on the Arabian Peninsula the ruling families of the smaller sheikhdoms faced nowhere near the same potency of challenges from nationalists or other antagonistic forces, although there were instances of pushback from merchant communities and xenophobic citizens against British-controlled markets and the influx of expatriates.164 Due to the greater geographic isolation of these sheikhdoms from the rest of the region and, so it seemed, their rapidly accelerating ability to channel new oil revenues to relatively small populations, conditions were far from ripe for the sort of mass rebellions witnessed in Yemen and Oman.165 Nonetheless, as events unfolded Britain increasingly began to intervene in the domestic politics and affairs of these proto-states, mostly as part of a preventive strategy.


In Sharjah, for example, Saqr bin Sultan al-Qasimi was soon deemed problematic. Having ousted his father in 1951, he had begun to invite representatives of the Arab League to his fort, while later in the decade visitors described seeing portraits of Nasser hanging on the wall and overhearing him discuss the benefits of the ‘great Arab nation’. Egyptian military officials were also thought to have been invited to Sharjah, and Saqr was understood to have discreetly visited Cairo and Damascus. In 1958 he had sought Arab League recognition for a new mini state made up of Sharjah and three other nearby Trucial States, and in 1964 – as a final straw, it seemed – he allowed the opening of an Arab League office in his sheikhdom. According to Britain’s resident agent at the time, this led to ‘dismay [as] Saqr had thrown down the first explicit challenge to Britain’s position’. Summoned to the agent’s office, Saqr was shown a document purportedly signed by his relatives calling for his dismissal before then being escorted out through the back door and flown into exile. His more malleable replacement, Khalid bin Muhammad al-Qasimi, was a paint-shop owner working next-door in Dubai.166


Further down the coast the ruler of Abu Dhabi was also being lined up for removal. Although there are no suggestions that Shakhbut bin Sultan al-Nahyan ever entertained subversive visitors or nationalist elements in his sheikhdom, his younger brother had nonetheless been waging a slow-burning campaign to discredit him in the eyes of British officials. Painting a picture of Shakhbut as an anachronistic figure incapable of judiciously spending Abu Dhabi’s rising oil revenues, by 1966 Zayed bin Sultan al-Nahyan had persuaded Britain to engineer another Trucial States succession. As the British political resident in Bahrain claimed, ‘[Zayed] was consistently bitter about Shakhbut, and openly so... he said that his brother had set his mind absolutely against development plans.’ Furthermore, according to a member of the agency staff, Zayed had already told Shakhbut that ‘you should not only seek but also take the advice of the [British] agent.’ Although the circumstances remain murky, with differences in the historical accounts over exactly how smoothly the coup took place, all versions describe the arrival of British scouts and the de facto arrest and exiling of Shakhbut. With Zayed installed Britain had found a much more reliable client. After all, he had already told the agent that ‘Britain should do to Cairo what the Russians have done to Budapest.’167


Much more precarious was the situation in Kuwait, not least due to its proximity to revolutionary Iraq and its much greater value to Britain at that time. By 1960, the sheikhdom was not only supplying Britain with forty percent of its crude oil imports but its exports were also accounting for around a third of total British sterling reserves. A Foreign Office report from the time explicitly stated the need to keep Kuwaiti investments flowing back to Britain and into sterling so as to ‘avoid the necessity of sharing their oil wealth with their neighbours’.168 On the cusp of achieving independence, its ruling al-Sabah family was well liked and trusted by London, but at the same time it was coming under pressure from powerful citizens who openly expressed sympathy with the Arab nationalist cause. The fear, put simply, was that the ruling family would quickly buckle after independence and would seek to cancel any sort of postcolonial British protection system.169 Giving remarkable insight into official thinking at the time, a secret Foreign Office report from 1958 had already identified an urgent need to keep an independent Kuwait separate from other regional powers and region-wide ideologies, and had suggested upholding some sort of divide and rule strategy to keep the people of Iraq, Iran, Saudi Arabia, and the smaller Gulf sheikhdoms firmly apart. It stated: ‘[Britain’s] interest lies in keeping Kuwait independent and separate, if we possibly can, in line with the idea of maintaining the four principal oil producing areas under separate political control.’170


Quite dramatically, just five days after Kuwait finally declared independence in June 1961, Iraq announced that it considered Kuwait to be part of its territory, and Kuwait’s government was informed by Britain that Iraq was already in the advanced stages of preparing an invasion. Unsurprisingly, given its small armed forces, Kuwait immediately sent a formal request to London for help, with seven thousand British troops duly being deployed. In turn this led to the ratifying of a defence treaty that stated Britain would always come to Kuwait’s defence if ever needed.171 Britain maintained its defence force in Kuwait until October of that year, and although the Arab League then officially took over Kuwait’s protection, Britain still kept some troops in place for a further decade which, it seemed, greatly strengthened the hand of the ruling al-Sabah family against its domestic opponents. Justifying the mission and basing its conclusions on a selective reading of British archival sources, the CIA later published a lengthy report detailing the various mechanisms of Britain’s ‘Operation Vantage’ in Kuwait.172


The supposed Iraqi invasion threat was, however, almost certainly a fabrication, with declassified Foreign Office documents indicating that at the time Baghdad’s bellicose statement was made, British officials had largely dismissed it as a ‘spur of the moment’ affair and had concluded that ‘on present indicators it seems on the whole unlikely [that Iraq] will resort to military action’. Moreover, the British consulate in nearby Basra stated quite emphatically that ‘no (repeat no) reliable information has been seen or heard of any unusual troop movements.’ Similarly, the US had understood Iraq’s threat to be little more than a ‘postural move’, with officials stating that ‘they did not (repeat not) believe that [Iraq] intends further action.’173


But on the same day as the Basra consulate made its report, the British ambassador in more distant Baghdad claimed he had information ‘revealing [Iraq’s] intentions to build up in Basra a striking force suitable for an attack on Kuwait’. His assertion was then quickly repeated by the Foreign Office, which added references to a ‘tank regiment’ and claimed that ‘the latest information shows [Iraq] to be making preparations which would enable [it] to make a very early military attack.’ The Joint Intelligence Committee then duly produced a series of assessments that, according to the CIA narrative, ‘convinced Whitehall the risk of invasion was high and Iraq might attack with virtually no warning’.174


As historian Mark Curtis has demonstrated, the new and much more alarmist information appears to have originated entirely from the Baghdad embassy, with no sources provided, and with no evidence supplied from the Royal Air Force’s photo reconnaissance unit based in Bahrain. As he notes, even on the day after Kuwait’s formal request for British help, and well after the Joint Intelligence Committee’s assessments, the Basra consulate was still stating that ‘evidence so far available does not (repeat not) indicate that an attack on Kuwait has been under preparation.’ Similarly, a Ministry of Defence report, dated eleven days after the British deployment began, conceded that Iraqi tank movements to Basra were ‘unlikely’, and that, if anything, there had been an actual reduction in Iraqi military activities in the area so as not to create any misunderstanding.175 Even Britain’s political agent in Kuwait, upgraded to ambassador after independence, complained that the intelligence reports were ‘too shallow and unclear’ and argued that ‘the Iraqis might verbally threaten Kuwait but they will not invade.’176 Casting more light on the affair is a secret memorandum from October 1961 written by Edward Heath, then the lord privy seal. He wrote that Britain recognized its interests in Kuwait had been threatened and stated that planners were urged to ‘continue to use the opportunities which our protective role will afford to ensure so far as we can that Kuwait does not materially upset the existing financial arrangements’.177
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COLD WAR, OIL WAR – AMERICA TAKES OVER


AMERICA’S EVEN HUNGRIER EMPIRE


Despite some muted discomfort over the imperialist practices of its British and French allies, the United States of the mid-twentieth century was rapidly waking up to the demands of its own resource-hungry industries and the realities of its Cold War stalemate with the Soviet Union. Seeking to ensure vacuums left in the wake of the retrenching European empires were not filled by antagonistic forces bent on nationalizing assets or – equally dangerously – liberation movements likely to align themselves with Soviet-sponsored international communism, the US government and its intelligence agencies soon found themselves at the very forefront of counter-revolutionary action. As Karl Korsch put it, the US may have been based on the ideals of revolutionary France, but by this stage it was fast losing its ‘capitalist infancy’.1 Certainly the need to sustain a ravenous economic system, combined with its inheritance of the old Western order from London and Paris, heralded a new era of unprecedented international interventions, meddling, and covert operations.


In words that could just as easily have flowed from the pen of a fin de siècle British Foreign Office official, a US National Security Council study from 1949 warned that the US needed to find ways of ‘exerting economic pressures’ on low- and middle-income countries that were not willingly accepting their role as suppliers of ‘strategic commodities and other basic materials’.2 Unsurprisingly, but rather hypocritically given its own recent history of isolationism, the US had also become wary of smaller states trying to maintain ‘neutrality’. As Secretary of State John Foster Dulles argued in 1956, neutrality was ‘increasingly becoming an obsolete conception, and except under very exceptional circumstances, it is an immoral and short-sighted conception’. On this basis any state anywhere in the world, not only a revolutionary state but also one that merely strived for middle ground or showed little interest in US aid, could find itself targeted.3


With the passing of the Mutual Security Act in 1955, which specified that all US aid recipients must not only contribute to ‘the defensive strength of the free world’ but must also ‘encourage the efforts of other free nations... to foster private initiative and competition’, the link between US-sponsored capitalism and the need for counter-insurgency strategies became more clearly defined.4 Along with the carrots, however, also came the sticks, with President Dwight Eisenhower setting up a programme for the training of foreign police forces, before the John Kennedy administration massively expanded the operation and called it ‘US counter-insurgency’. An international academy was even established in Washington to train members of approved foreign security services, with part of their curriculum focusing on ‘internal security, counter subversive and counter-insurgency aspects of foreign police operations’.5


Bringing the Department of Defense together with the nascent Central Intelligence Agency, Washington also began to ‘consider various areas where the implementation of our policy may require indigenous paramilitary force’. An important development, and in some ways a refinement of earlier British counter-insurgency operations, the recognized usefulness of local militias that could help disguise the identity of a campaign’s true sponsor was to become the bedrock of most subsequent US covert operations. Facing some internal criticism, Kennedy’s Overseas Internal Defense Policy of 1962 nonetheless firmly defended the use of such subversive tactics and described the ‘pressures, hopes, and anxieties in the developing world that seem to justify violent action’. As a Department of State official later remarked, ‘notably absent in the [policy] was any mention of human rights... despite the barbaric record of Third World security forces, [the] Department’s repeated efforts to include human rights were rejected.’6


In practice, these and other such policies soon left the latter half of the century littered with US efforts to buttress the internal security of a range of reactionary, illiberal, and in many cases truly despotic regimes across the developing world. As long as these client governments were willing to ensure the smooth flow of resources out of their territories and were avowedly anti-communist, they invariably had the backing of the White House. Nationalists, neutralists, and all shades of domestic opponents were almost always slotted into the US’s narrative, with regimes quick to brand them accomplices of ‘international communism’. As historian Weldon Matthews argues, the counter-insurgency strategy effectively ‘entailed US support for developing states in strengthening their repressive capabilities’, while as Robert Dreyfuss describes, the enemy was never just the Soviet Union, or even communism, but rather any ‘leaders who did not wholeheartedly sign on to the US agenda or who might challenge Western and in particular US hegemony. Ideas and ideologies that could inspire such leaders were suspect: nationalism, humanism, secularism, socialism.’7


AMERICA’S GLOBAL COUNTER-REVOLUTION


Getting an early taste of Britain’s post-Second World War impotence, the US was almost immediately pressed into action to ensure that the newly liberated Greece did not fall into the wrong hands. With Prime Minister Winston Churchill and his successor, Clement Attlee, having duplicitously switched sides by beginning to arm former Nazi collaborators against communist guerrillas who had earlier fought alongside Allied special forces, their counter-insurgency was proving unsuccessful, with the war dragging on into 1947. With the White House justifying to Congress its need to intervene on the basis that Britain had complained it could no longer keep bankrolling Athens and that if Greece fell to communism then ‘Turkey and the entire Middle East would fall as well,’ the US soon launched a ‘foreign internal defence mission’ so as to counter the ‘communist insurgency’. According to a declassified US military intelligence monograph, this involved ‘economic and military aid, plus civilian and military advisers’.8


Meanwhile, much closer to home, the new capitalist-imperialist US had already begun to interfere in what it considered its own backyard. Backing a counter-revolution in Guatemala, a long series of covert US campaigns in Central and South America had begun. Ruled since 1931 by a US-backed dictator, Jorge Ubico, who sympathized with European fascist leaders and referred to the indigenous Mayan population in racist terms, Guatemala had also allowed the US to establish military bases on its territory and, more significantly it seems, for the US-incorporated United Fruit Company to operate more than forty percent of the country’s arable farmland.9 In 1944 a popular revolution involving ‘free officers’, students, and intellectuals had swept Ubico from power and democratic elections were held by the end of the year. The new president, Juan José Arévalo, set about introducing a range of social and political reforms including free education, universal suffrage, and minimum wages. Despite more than twenty coup attempts during his term in office, follow-up elections were successfully held in 1950, and were considered by international observers to have been fair.10 With the country’s new progressive constitution in place, presidential re-elections were not permitted, so Arévalo duly stepped aside. Continuing with his predecessor’s agenda, Jacobo Árbenz began to introduce much-demanded land reforms, including the nationalization of unused United Fruit Company-owned land and handing it over to peasants.11


Duly lobbying the White House and hiring a leading public relations specialist, Edward Bernays – known as the ‘father of PR’ – the United Fruit Company launched an inflammatory anti-communist smear campaign against Guatemala’s elected government.12 With pressure building on the Department of State to protect US interests, an official warned that Árbenz’s reforms had become a ‘powerful propaganda weapon’ while the ‘broad social program of aiding workers and peasants in a victorious struggle against the upper classes and foreign enterprises’ would have a strong appeal to neighbouring states such as Honduras and El Salvador ‘where similar conditions prevail’.13 As historian Nicholas Cullather has contended, CIA director Allen Dulles and his brother John Foster either mistook or wilfully misinterpreted the reforms as a sign of increasing Soviet encroachment in Central America as they claimed Guatemala had become a ‘Soviet beachhead’.14


With the stage set for firmer action, a CIA-sponsored paramilitary invasion of Guatemala began in 1952.15 Led by exiled Guatemalans who had been funded, trained, and equipped in Florida, the mercenary force’s advance was supported by US air patrols which were violating Guatemala’s airspace on the pretext of stopping ‘communist weapons’ arriving in the country.16 By 1954, with a full US naval blockade in place, the exiles had reached the capital, overthrown the president, and installed a military dictator.17 With Árbenz’s ‘new deal’ reforms rolled back and Guatemala’s ‘Ten years of Spring’ brought sharply to an end, the already problematic UN secretary general Dag Hammarskjöld stated that the US-sponsored operation had clearly contravened the UN charter.18 Over the next few decades several subsequent attempts to restart the revolution were put down by a series of dictators, all of whom were products of the 1952 campaign. All were accused of human rights violations, including peasant massacres and the use of ‘scorched earth’ tactics against the indigenous Mayan population. Most opponents, as per the Mutual Security Act, were quickly branded communists.19


With a successful test case behind it, the US soon began to expand its secretive Central American campaign to other problem states. In Honduras, for example, veteran US diplomat John Negroponte recalls how ‘the National Security Council [was] running operations off the books, with no findings.’20 But most infamous, of course, were the efforts to unseat Cuba’s Fidel Castro after his 1958 overthrow of the US-backed military dictator Fulgencio Batista. Having already allocated $13 million to fund a Cuban counter-revolution, Eisenhower had then passed the baton on to the Kennedy administration, which attempted to repeat the Guatemala invasion. Organizing Cuban exiles and channelling weapons to them through Rafael Trujillo, the military strongman in control of the Dominican Republic, the CIA had created ‘Brigade 2506’.21 As an indigenous paramilitary force, it was an important experiment for the eventual Overseas Internal Defense Policy, even if its total failure exposed multiple shortcomings in the strategy. From their launch pad in Guatemala, fourteen hundred of the CIA’s fighters set sail for Cuba in April 1961. Although the US bombed Cuban airfields while the invaders were en route, Castro’s forces were more than a match for them after their landing at the Bay of Pigs, and within just four days they were routed.22 With Kennedy humiliated, Castro’s Argentinian sidekick Ernesto ‘Che’ Guevara sent a note to the White House that read ‘thanks for [the Bay of Pigs]. Before the invasion, the revolution was weak. Now it’s stronger than ever.’23


More complex was the concurrent situation in West Africa. As with the Greek operation, the US was required to pick up slack left by declining European powers and operate in territory with which it had little familiarity. With a multi-faction war of independence erupting in 1961 in the Portuguese overseas province of Angola, the US eventually found itself backing the ‘UNITA’ militias, who answered to the União Nacional para a Independência Total de Angola – a movement which had claimed to support capitalism.24 Receiving aid from both the US and then later Saudi Arabia, the UNITA fighters were, with some assistance, launching their attacks from across the border in the Congo. With the stakes getting higher the longer opposing groups stood in the way of UNITA, and with many US and European companies keen to exploit the country’s vast oil and diamond resources, it became imperative that a quick victory was achieved.25


A key problem had emerged, however, as the situation in the Congo itself was beginning to threaten US interests. Having gained independence from Belgium in 1960, the state’s first democratic elections had been won by the Mouvement National Congolais led by Patrice Lumumba. With his commitment to replacing European military and administrative elites with Congolese, and to nationalizing resources in the country’s wealthy outlying provinces, Lumumba was a growing problem. Described as having vast deposits of strategic minerals, including cobalt, the Congo’s uranium mines had also earlier been labelled by the US’s Manhattan Project as the ‘most important deposits yet discovered in the world’.26


Sharing a usefully long and porous frontier with Angola, the Congolese province of Katanga was the first to declare its secession from Lumumba’s new government.27 Reportedly backed by both the Belgian and US governments, the Katangans were led by their army chief, Joseph Mobutu, and openly assisted by Belgian mercenaries. After Mobutu’s forces reached the capital city and provoked a coup d’état, Lumumba was handed over to them, and he was tortured and executed in early 1961.28 During the chaotic period that followed in the Congo, with no functioning central government, Dag Hammarskjöld tried to fly to Katanga to meet Mobutu to establish some sort of UN peace deal, but he died when his aircraft crashed while flying in British-controlled Northern Rhodesian airspace. Sparking great controversy, both the Northern Rhodesian and UN internal investigations concluded the plane had been flying too low. But in 2015 the UN reopened the investigation on the basis of new evidence, and following the conclusion of a 2013 UN panel which ‘found that there was persuasive evidence that the aircraft was subjected to some form of attack or threat as it circled to land’. The evidence included testimonies of two former US intelligence officers who were working at listening posts and heard what seemed to be an in-flight strike on the plane, as well as one of the men’s claim that ‘Americans were somehow implicated’.29 The 2013 panel’s findings also appeared to corroborate portions of earlier documents produced by the South African Truth and Reconciliation Commission, which were revealed to the public by Archbishop Desmond Tutu in 1998. Implicating British, US, and South African agents, the commission was aware of meetings held between the three parties along with a South African military front company, and of the existence of plans to place explosives in the wheel bay of the aircraft.30


Following much further instability and no further peace efforts, Mobutu emerged as the Western-backed dictator and, as later described by the BBC, he managed to ‘stash much of the country’s economic output in European banks’. As the BBC also reported, the renamed state of Zaire then ‘became the most notorious example of a country where state institutions came to be little more than a way of delivering money to the ruling elite’.31 Meanwhile, back in Angola, the war finally came to an end, but only following a revolution in Portugal itself. In 1974 the ‘Carnation Movement’ – described by the British media as ‘rebels seizing control’ – brought to an end the corporate-authoritarian regime of the Estado Novo, which had been receiving anti-riot training from British police in London and Northern Ireland.32 After winning free elections, the new Portuguese government immediately sued for peace in its remaining colonies and began a series of progressive social reforms along with the release of hundreds of political prisoners. However, given its commitment to nationalize sixty percent of the economy and initiate land reform, it soon found itself, even as a Western European democracy, as a threat to US interests. As the University of California’s Ronald Chilcote has described, the CIA soon served as a conduit for covert funds to right-wing parties in Portugal and possibly for the financing of riots against the new government. Ingmar Oldmar has similarly claimed that such financing did take place and that ‘the US reaction to the Portuguese revolution was to a great extent coloured by anxiety over the role and influence of the communists... there was a certain penchant for repressive measures.’33


Over in South-East Asia, the Vietnam War was by then entering its twentieth year. Although at first glance seeming to have little in common with the US’s covert counter-insurgency operations, especially given the hundreds of thousands of US troops that were eventually deployed, in many ways the roots of the conflict were much the same as those in Central America and West Africa. Certainly in the early days of the Vietnam conflict, most of the strategies outlined in the Overseas Internal Defense Policy were very much in evidence. Divided into two halves by the Geneva Agreement in 1954, the old French Indochina had in effect become the Far Eastern crucible of the Cold War, with the northern Democratic Republic of Vietnam being nominally backed by both China and the Soviet Union, while the south – the Republic of Vietnam – became home to fast-expanding Western embassies where a ‘vast effort’ was directed against the Vietnamese communists known as the ‘Vietcong’.34 Fearing a sweeping Vietcong incursion into the south and the complete ejection of all Western personnel, in 1962 the US adopted the old British strategic hamlets scheme – tried and tested in Malaya and later in Oman – in an effort to cut off links between potentially sympathetic South Vietnamese rural communities and the advancing insurgents.35


By the mid-1960s, the strategy seemed to be failing, despite the presence of a 17,000-strong US military advisory group and the US providing an estimated seventy-five percent of the South Vietnam government’s funding. Whether due to unwavering support and steady supplies to the Vietcong from China and the Soviet Union or, as claimed by a former senior British intelligence official, the US’s lack of experience in ‘colonial control’, the counter-insurgency had clearly reached a dead end. But as with Malaya, the stakes seemed too high to countenance withdrawal as US planners had long since identified Vietnam as potentially a ‘most lucrative economy’ given its abundance of iron ore, copper, gold, and coal. Thus, despite its public dismissal by President Lyndon Johnson as a ‘raggedy-assed, little fourth-rate country’, it was in fact nothing of the sort, with the US government already seeking a mechanism through which to justify the deployment of even larger numbers of regular troops.36


In 1964, following a series of threats made by the US to the Democratic Republic of Vietnam, US destroyers clashed with North Vietnamese ‘fast boats’ in the Gulf of Tonkin. A number of US officials, CIA officers, and also crewmen aboard the destroyers have since suggested that the ships were sent into the Gulf as a deliberate act of provocation.37 Moreover, despite Johnson’s presidential address referring to the incident taking place on ‘the high seas’, which gave the US public the impression it had happened in international waters, the destroyers were later understood to have been only eight miles off the coast and just four miles from offshore islands belonging to the republic.38 It has also been suggested that the incident was timed to coincide with US commando raids within the republic’s territory, so as to plant the idea that the destroyers were directing these raids and thus making it more likely that they would be intercepted and attacked. Adding considerable weight to these views, formerly top-secret National Security Agency documents declassified in late 2005 include an in-house historian’s description of how ‘the agency’s intelligence officers deliberately skewed the evidence passed on to policy makers and the public to falsely suggest that North Vietnamese ships had attacked [the] US destroyers.’39


Either way, with the casus belli established, full-blown war quickly ensued. Although most of the ground manoeuvres were conducted by US troops, including thousands of conscripts, the campaign also bore striking similarities to many of the Western-led multinational interventions before it, including the anti-Bolshevik campaign in Russia and the Dhofar operations in Oman. Contingents turned up from Britain, Australia, New Zealand, Sri Lanka, and Taiwan. Soldiers from Thailand and the Philippines also arrived, having received counter-insurgency training at the British-run Jungle Warfare School in Malaya. As with Dhofar, even Shah Muhammad Reza Pahlavi was keen to help, sending Iranian Phantom jets.40 But caught off guard in 1968 by the Vietcong’s massive Tet Offensive, which captured vast swathes of the country, reached the centre of Saigon, and was clearly facilitated by local support, the US intervention already seemed to have reached the ‘beginning of the end’.41


Although defeated in Asia, the US was very soon embroiling itself again in the affairs of Central and South America, but this time with important lessons learned from the Vietnam experience and with some interesting innovations to its counter-revolutionary strategy. Democratically elected in 1970, Chilean president Salvador Allende was pushing forward his ‘Chilean way to socialism’ or La vía chilena al socialismo. Land reforms and even free milk for schoolchildren were being introduced, while the new government also attempted to nationalize Chile’s lucrative copper mines, most of which were owned by US firms. Far from seizing such assets, by all accounts the foreign companies were well compensated by Allende, with the biggest among them – Kennecott and Anaconda – thought to have received much more than their book value due to years of excess profit-taking.42


In 2014 a series of declassified US documents, including Department of State reports and CIA annexes, revealed how President Richard Nixon’s administration was running a ‘cool and collected’ campaign to destabilize Allende’s government while simultaneously building up US ties with the Chilean military. A treasure trove of information, with the handwriting of Secretary of State Henry Kissinger and others appearing in the margins, the documents fully lay bare the US modus operandi at the time.43 One section, for example, shows how the US copper companies in Chile had been complaining of increasing tax pressure and their worries over future nationalization. Anaconda, in particular, was understood by US officials to have ‘an abrasive historical legacy’ in Chile and ‘symbolized to Chileans their inferiority and dependence on the US’. It was also admitted that Anaconda was considered by most Chileans to be a ‘foreign state within a state’.44 The primary US objective, according to the documents, was that Chile should not fall under communist control and then be able to influence the rest of South America. Among the other listed objectives was, unsurprisingly, the protection of US economic interests in the country, in an apparent reference to the copper industry.45


With a ‘covert action budget’ assigned, the CIA’s operation was secretly described as a ‘program to hamstring Allende and play for the breaks’. Most disturbingly, proposals for a more peaceful solution in Chile were rejected on the basis that ‘only some kind of adversary strategy promises to contain or deter the adverse impact of Allende’s policies [on US interests].’46 The eventual military coup in 1973, representing the culmination of these efforts, was immediately endorsed by the US and paved the way for army chief Augusto Pinochet to take full control within a year and then launch a wave of brutal purges against remaining opponents.47 Most interestingly, and signifying a growing awareness within the CIA of the need for sustained media campaigns, even after Pinochet’s installation its operation continued, but with a shift in emphasis to help burnish the new junta’s image at home and abroad.48 Aware of the US’s considerable difficulties in portraying the change of power in Chile as anything but a severely regressive development, the CIA co-produced a White book of the change of government in Chile which was then widely distributed in Washington, London, and other major international capitals.49


But it was further north in Nicaragua in the final decade of the Cold War that the US intelligence community embarked on its most clandestine and risky counter-revolutionary campaign. Ending forty-six years of dictatorship, the Sandinista National Liberation Front, or Sandinistas – named after the 1920s Nicaraguan rebel leader, Augusto Sandino – had seized power in 1979 and formed a revolutionary government. Beginning a process of ‘national reconstruction’, they prioritized mass literacy, healthcare, and better gender equality, and announced that elections would be held within five years.50 Concerned at the fall of the long-serving strongman Anastasio Somoza, who was famously quoted as saying, ‘Since the Nicaraguan people are no more than oxen, they don’t need schools,’ Secretary of State George Shultz claimed that if the Sandinistas ‘succeeded in consolidating their power... then the [other] countries in Latin America, who all face serious internal economic problems, will see radical forces emboldened to exploit these problems’.51


With no Pinochet-like Nicaraguan military chief for the US to turn to, the situation seemed better suited to a reprise of the old Guatemalan and Cuban strategies of training up exiles and then inserting them back into their country to topple the new government. This time, the US-sponsored paramilitaries were to go down in history, as the contrarrevolución fighters that eventually emerged were soon to have their abbreviated nickname – the ‘contras’ – used to describe all subsequent similar militias elsewhere in the world. Although numerous protests were made to the UN’s International Court of Justice that the contras were a US creation, these were all rejected, while President Ronald Reagan’s administration claimed they were merely ‘democratic resistance’. Today there is of course overwhelming and incontrovertible evidence that proves the US’s covert role, despite Congress having earlier banned such activities for US intelligence agencies.52 Notably, the National Security Council is understood to have created a front organization called ‘The Enterprise’, which had its own Swiss bank accounts, its own aircraft, and had co-opted CIA staff from the region.53 Third-party funds and assistance were also channelled to the contras from Argentinian intelligence and from the Saudi embassy in the US.54 More controversially, funds are also believed to have been channelled from Muammar Gaddafi’s Libya, despite his poor relations with the US, and even from the proceeds of US arms sales to the newly formed Islamic Republic of Iran (sales that violated the UN embargo on the supply of arms to participants in the ongoing Iran–Iraq War).55


Of perhaps even greater concern than the ‘Iran–Contra’ affair are the now well-documented CIA efforts to channel proceeds from drug-trafficking operations to the contras. According to a CIA internal investigation at the time, there was an awareness that some agents were working with traffickers, while a White House report from 1986 sought to downplay these ‘contra-cocaine’ connections claiming that ‘we have evidence of a limited number of incidents in which known drug traffickers have tried to establish connections with Nicaraguan resistance groups.’56 In 1989, however, a committee led by Senator John Kerry reported unambiguously that ‘contra drug links included... payments to drug traffickers by the Department of State of funds authorized by the Congress for humanitarian assistance to the contras.’ Moreover, ‘in some cases [this happened] after the traffickers had been indicted by federal law enforcement agencies on drug charges, in others while traffickers were under active investigation by these same agencies.’ The report concluded that the Department of State had paid over $806,000 to known drug traffickers ‘to carry humanitarian assistance’ to the contras.57


AMERICA’S MIDDLE EAST – SPECIAL TREATMENT FOR A SPECIAL CASE


Soon advancing into the void left by Britain’s retreat, and quickly overcoming their initial fence-sitting on Nasser’s Egypt, by the mid-1950s US planners acknowledged that securing the Middle East, and especially the Persian Gulf region, was going to be vital to the future prosperity and stability of the Western states and, in turn, for holding the Soviet Union in check. As it was in the rest of the world, the extraction of natural resources was once again an obvious priority, so all indigenous attempts to nationalize economic assets – regardless of any progressive, liberal, or even democratic agendas – needed to be intimidated or destroyed by the US. In 1955, according to secret correspondence between British officials, President Dwight Eisenhower had even called for a ‘high-class Machiavellian plan to achieve a situation in the Middle East favourable to our interests which could split the Arabs and defeat the aims of our enemies’.58


Just two years later the region got its own ‘Eisenhower Doctrine’; an evolution of the earlier Truman and Monroe doctrines that had sought to secure US interests against international communism and foreign encroachment on the American continents.59 Stating that ‘the US regards as vital to the national interest and world peace the preservation of the independence and integrity of the nations of the Middle East,’ Eisenhower effectively made the Middle East a special zone of US control. Moreover, as with Truman’s more global declaration, Eisenhower sought to tie the Cold War to all threats to the Middle Eastern status quo by claiming he was ‘prepared to use armed forces to assist [any Middle Eastern country] requesting assistance against armed aggression from any country controlled by international communism’.60 He also proclaimed that ‘the existing vacuum in the Middle East must be filled by the United States before it is filled by Russia.’61


The sudden special treatment of the Middle East at this time was, for the most part, due to the simultaneous deepening of US dependency on crude oil imports. Although still a net exporter at the end of the Second World War, by 1950 the US was importing a million barrels per day, and by the 1960s more than a third of the US’s energy demands were being met by such imports, mostly from the Shah’s Iran and the Gulf monarchies. US oil companies had already arrived on the Arabian Peninsula in 1933, eventually founding the Arabian American Oil Company – Aramco – in Saudi Arabia, and with President Franklin Roosevelt proclaiming in 1943 that ‘the defence of Saudi Arabia is vital to the defence of the US.’62 With Britain’s oil needs also growing, its interests and relations in the region fell increasingly under the US shadow, with Whitehall planners admitting that Middle Eastern oil was ‘a vital prize for any power interested in world influence or domination’.63


Despite some initial Anglo-American tension over how to divide up the region, a deal was eventually worked out after the White House told Britain’s ambassador that ‘Persian oil... is yours. We share the oil of Kuwait and Iraq. As for Saudi Arabian oil, it’s ours.’64 Well aware of the awkward relationships the US would have to nurture with autocratic and reactionary monarchies at a time of rising Arab nationalist sentiments, the Department of State did acknowledge that ‘among increasing numbers of Arabs there is... a conviction that we are backing the corrupt governments in power, without regard for the welfare of the masses.’65 But as US reliance on Gulf imports continued to grow, such voices were quickly crowded out as the defence of the oil-rich monarchies and the need to remove their rivals became increasingly intertwined with US national security and its very survival as a superpower.


In an originally top-secret but now declassified Department of State document from 1976, it was stated bluntly that the highest-priority policy objective for the US was the ‘continued access to Saudi Arabian petroleum for the Western alliance and Japan’. US planners were told to keep persuading Saudi Arabia and the other Gulf monarchies that their long-term interests were parallel to those of the US and, somewhat pragmatically, were to caution Saudi Arabia that any shift to non-US technologies for its oil industry could lead to ‘incompatibilities, inefficiencies, and even breakdowns’. It was also stated that Saudi Arabia should be made aware of the necessity to keep US citizens in key positions at Aramco.66 Two years later another Department of State document explained that the nearby island emirate of Bahrain would have been of ‘very little importance to the US were it not for its central location in the oil-rich Persian Gulf. The Western world needs continuing access to this region’s oil.’ The document’s author also urged that for its own good the Bahraini government should integrate more closely with Saudi Arabia and purchase more US arms ‘which would fit well within the role that the US government sees for Bahrain’s small military’.67


By the late 1970s the tightening relationship was continuing to pay off for the US and Britain, with some of the monarchies, notably Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates, having secretly circumvented the production quotas of the Iraq-based Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries cartel by supplying Britain with all the oil it needed to ease its own domestic energy crisis, and with Riyadh understood to have lobbied OPEC to set lower prices than Iraq and Iran had wanted, so as to suit the US economy’s needs.68 By the 1980s, according to a former CIA special assistant during the Reagan administration, Saudi Arabia had even been asked by CIA director Bill Casey to ramp up oil production so as to collapse deliberately the price of oil in an effort to weaken the Soviet Union’s ability to earn foreign currency. With oil duly falling from $28 to $10 a barrel, the strategy has since been described by a former CIA chief of staff as a ‘body blow to the Soviets. It was the equivalent of stepping on their oxygen tube.’69


After the Cold War ended, the safeguarding of the oil alliance naturally remained a top priority, as it was never just about defeating communism. With viable alternative energies a distant speck on the horizon, the leading academic journal Science revealed that nearly half of the US’s total oil needs were still being met by foreign imports.70 In many ways speaking for the entire US governmental and military-industrial complex, Norman Schwarzkopf, commander-in-chief of US Central Command (CENTCOM), put it best by explaining that ‘Middle Eastern oil is the West’s lifeblood. It fuels us today and... is going to fuel us when the rest of the world has run dry. It is estimated that within twenty to forty years the US will have virtually depleted its economically available oil reserves, while the Persian Gulf region will still have at least a hundred years of proven oil reserves.’71


REMOVING THE RIVALS – IRANIAN DEMOCRACY


The first big test for the US’s new Middle East strategy came from one of the West’s biggest oil suppliers when, in 1951, the democratic election of a new and progressive prime minister threatened to end the vast and lucrative monopoly held by a British company over Iran’s most valuable resource. With Shah Muhammad Reza Pahlavi having gradually slid into accepting the role of constitutional monarch, Muhammad Mosaddegh had been able to win a large parliamentary majority. Having immediately advanced a number of social and political reforms including rent control and land reform, both of which sought to redistribute landlord profits so as to fund public amenities, Mosaddegh then began to discuss the possibility of half-nationalizing the Iranian oil industry, which had been controlled by the Anglo-Persian Oil Company since 1913, with a concession extending all the way up to 1993.72 In 1948 alone, APOC had made profits of over £50 million and was described as the ‘pride and joy of Britain’s imperial assets, having gotten its start as the special project of Winston Churchill’.73 According to one British official it was ‘in effect an imperium in imperio in Persia’ as it even had its own private intelligence agency, the Central Information Bureau.74


Troublingly for Mosaddegh and indeed the Iranian nation, Tehran was only earning between ten and twelve percent in royalties on APOC’s net proceeds, which meant that the British government was making far more revenue from Iranian oil than the Iranian government.75 To make matters worse, most of APOC’s Iranian workers were poorly paid and housed in very bad conditions. As Stephen Dorril describes, the company effectively operated as though ‘it was still the nineteenth century, regarding Iranians as merely wogs’.76 Trying to defend the status quo, at least with regard to the tough revenue-sharing arrangement, the British ambassador to Iran argued that ‘it is so important to prevent the Persians from destroying their main source of revenue... by trying to run it themselves.’ Meanwhile, as the British minister for fuel and power explained, it was one thing to say that Iran was ‘morally entitled to a royalty... [but to then say] they are morally entitled to fifty percent of enterprises to which they have made no contribution whatever, is bunk’.77 Aware of these sentiments and, so it would seem, the dangers that lay ahead, Mosaddegh warned that his efforts to nationalize oil on behalf of the Iranian people would be ‘opening a hidden treasure upon which lies a dragon’.78


Only after first trying an informal fifty-fifty offer and having this rejected by the British government did Mosaddegh then press forward in parliament with a full-blown nationalization act. But even then there were provisions to allow for twenty-five percent of oil profits to be set aside so as to compensate APOC for its losses and for job protection for all of APOC’s British employees in Iran.79 Despite the British government internally deeming the act to be legitimate in international law, its reaction was to deploy the Royal Navy and orchestrate a British-led naval blockade of Iran, while simultaneously freezing Iran’s overseas assets. The aim, according to chiefs of staff committee documents, was ‘to bankrupt Persia thus possibly leading to revolution’.80


In parallel, a more covert second strategy was already being implemented, with an exiled but pro-British former prime minister of the Shah’s father being brought back to Tehran to help pro-APOC politicians mount a parliamentary challenge to Mosaddegh. Apparently on good terms with the Shah and with substantial funding behind him, it was hoped Britain’s man could get re-installed as prime minister and, according to the Foreign Office, ‘get a reasonable oil settlement with us’.81 Put together, these British manoeuvrings helped confirm Mosaddegh’s belief that London was ‘evil but not incomprehensible’ and that Britain had ‘for centuries been manipulating Iran for British ends’.82 But little did he know that an even more severe third strategy had also been on the table. Developed but not implemented, the plan was for British forces to seize territory near the main oil refinery in Abadan. It was a high-risk move that British foreign secretary Herbert Morrison believed ‘might be expected to produce a salutary effect throughout the Middle East and elsewhere, as evidence that British interests could not be recklessly molested with impunity’.83


In any case, after its general election success in late 1951, the new British government seemed ready for action, with reinstalled prime minister Winston Churchill doing little to hide his contempt for the preceding Clement Attlee administration, which he accused of having ‘scuttled and run from Abadan when a splutter of musketry would have ended the matter’.84 Stating his preference for a full-blown coup d’état and the installation of a pliable new authoritarian Iranian regime, Churchill’s view seemed to be shared by the British embassy in Tehran, with the ambassador calling for ‘a dictator... who would settle the oil question on reasonable terms’.85


Mindful of Britain’s declining power, however, Churchill and Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden began to petition the White House to get US help in forcibly overthrowing Mosaddegh. Done secretly, this involved a Foreign Office cable being sent to the Department of State explaining that ‘it is essential at all costs that [Britain] should avoid getting into a position where they could be represented as a capitalist power attacking a nationalist Persia.’86 The first stumbling block for the plan unexpectedly came from the CIA, as its field officers reportedly quite liked Mosaddegh, while other CIA elements directly opposed US assistance on the grounds it would help perpetuate British colonialism. The Truman administration duly advised Britain to reach a compromise with Mosaddegh, but of course one in which Iran allowed other foreign companies – including those from the US – greater access to its oil. But with Eisenhower assuming office in 1953 and the Dulles brothers in control of both the Department of State and the CIA, the mood soon shifted as the Mosaddegh situation fell more firmly into line with the US’s other global counter-insurgency operations. Believing Iran was ‘too important to US strategic interests to be allowed self-determination’, the new US administration duly began to suggest Mosaddegh was in league with communism.87


Problematically however, there was no hard evidence available that could prove Mosaddegh had any sort of affiliation with the Tudeh, Iran’s Communist Party.88 Even Britain’s ambassador agreed that ‘they have not been a major factor in the development of the Mosaddegh brand of nationalism,’ while other British officials complained that ‘the Americans would be more likely to work with us if they saw the problem as one of containing communism than restoring the position of APOC.’89 Nonetheless, with inconvenient truths pushed to one side, a CIA propaganda campaign soon alleged that Mosaddegh’s ‘spy service’ was funded by his land reform programme and never spied on the ‘Soviet Tudeh Party’.90 Meanwhile, in a further effort to divide Iran’s parliament, a purported letter began to circulate claiming that Eisenhower had refused to offer Iran any US financial aid as long as Mosaddegh remained in power.91


Recently declassified documents from the period indicate that the CIA was also willing to ‘expend money’ on Iranian MPs to engineer a no-confidence vote on Mosaddegh and subvert his efforts to hold public referendums.92 Moving beyond Britain’s original frontman choice, the CIA also identified Fazlollah Zahedi as a potential new prime minister. The son of a wealthy landowner and a former chief of police with a reputation for ruthlessness, Zahedi was also endorsed by the Foreign Office and housed in the British embassy despite having been arrested by British forces in Palestine during the Second World War for engaging in pro-Nazi activities. Not all were convinced, however, with the Shah hesitant to act, and the CIA reporting that even Zahedi himself was unwilling to commit ‘political suicide’ by being involved in ‘extra-legal moves’.93


Nevertheless the CIA’s Operation Ajax was launched in summer 1953 with John Foster Dulles informing colleagues that ‘this is how we get rid of that madman Mosaddegh.’94 A meeting, organized by Ajax coordinator Kermit Roosevelt,95 was later described as involving surprisingly little discussion and, as one of its participants put it, he was ‘morally certain that almost half of those present, if they had the courage to speak, would have opposed the undertaking’.96 The controversy, it seemed, was that the CIA and MI6 had not only begun to approach military commanders in Tehran in preparation for their coup, but had also been hiring numerous mobs to serve as false flag agents provocateurs.97


Paid to protest, the thugs posed as communist Tudeh members and threatened religious leaders with murder if they didn’t support Mosaddegh. In some cases, they even firebombed the houses of leading clerics. According to one former CIA agent, the men had no real ideology behind them and were ‘more than just provocateurs, they were shock troops, who acted as if they were Tudeh people’. As another former agent described, the CIA gave ‘serious attention’ to issuing ‘black propaganda in the name of the Tudeh Party’, and countenanced threatening phone calls made to religious leaders, also in the name of the Tudeh. A former US general has also explained that everything from the guns used by the mobsters to the trucks they drove in was fully funded by the US, while the CIA planted stories about the situation in both the Iranian and the US press.98


Declassified files have shed more light on the operation, revealing that the men were organized into four bands, some of which were four hundred strong and described even by CIA officials as being ‘ruffians’.99 They were also reported to be ‘acting as if they were Tudeh by throwing rocks at mosques and priests’, presumably for the benefit of foreign journalists.100 Kermit Roosevelt was a little more complimentary of his new employees, especially the team leaders, later claiming they were ‘extremely competent professional organizers’ who had no difficulty in buying a mob and handing out money as they went along.101


Supporting the narrative, being a CIA plant, or simply falling for the story, the New York Times’ correspondent in Tehran seemed oblivious to his colleagues’ earlier claims that Mosaddegh had ‘acquired a reputation for being an honest patriot’. Instead he wrote that the protestors on the streets were in league with the prime minister and were ‘Tudeh partisans and nationalist extremists’.102 Even the BBC was involved, using coded language on the World Service to help prove to the Shah that Kermit Roosevelt was indeed operating on behalf of US and British interests.103 Moreover, according to the School of Oriental and African Studies’ Annabelle Sreberny and Massoumeh Torfeh, the contents of the BBC’s Persian service were also ‘partially dictated’ by the Foreign Office, and this left many Iranians ‘with the impression that the BBC was an arm of the British government’.104


With spiralling discord in Tehran and fingers pointing in the wrong directions, the Shah was asked by the CIA to prepare decrees calling for the replacement of Mosaddegh with Zahedi, who by then had had to be moved to US safe houses as Britain’s embassy had been closed on the correct grounds that it was plotting against the government.105 But Mosaddegh refused to abdicate and went on national radio to reiterate that he was Iran’s elected prime minister and to state that the Shah was being ‘encouraged by foreign elements to attempt a coup d’état’. Although the Shah fled, the same agitators that had posed as Tudeh militants poured back onto the streets, but this time with pro-Shah banners, calling for his return.106


Finally installed with the pretence of popular support, Zahedi’s position was still far from secure, with a nine-hour battle raging through Tehran as many army officers remained loyal to Mosaddegh. Tipping the balance, the US military mission in Iran began to support actively the pro-Zahedi camp, as the operation seemingly needed more resources than the CIA had originally envisaged. As a former major general testified to Congress, ‘We violated our normal criteria... we provided [them] immediately with blankets, boots, medical supplies that permitted and created the atmosphere in which they could support the Shah. The weapons, armoured cars, radio equipment... were all furnished through the military defence assistance programme.’107 Still serving the CIA’s narrative, however, the New York Times claimed that the eventual military defeat of Mosaddegh’s forces was ‘nothing more than a mutiny by the lower ranks who revered the Shah’.108


From the British side, but with clear US cooperation, a less well-documented MI6 plan to undermine Mosaddegh’s position also seemed to have been underway. Not dissimilar to its concurrent support for the Muslim Brotherhood’s agitation against the new Egyptian republic, and in many ways its earlier alliance with the Basmachi militants against the Bolsheviks, Britain had again identified conservative Islamic forces as natural allies against a largely secular and progressive new state that threatened Western interests. Reaching out to some of the more militant members of Iran’s clergy, many of whom felt threatened by Mosaddegh’s intended reforms, Britain effectively added another and arguably more dangerous element to the street protests as it sought to destabilize further the already precarious situation. Although, as former Iranian officials have claimed, a young Ruhollah Khomeini took part in the demonstrations, Britain’s point man at the time was Ayatollah Abol-Ghasem Kashani. Having served as speaker of the Iranian parliament before being dismissed, Kashani had earlier worked with Nazi agents during the Second World War and had helped found the Fadayan-e-Islam, or ‘Devotees of Islam’. A militant organization, it had been held responsible for the 1951 assassination of Mosaddegh’s predecessor, Ali Razmara, who had been the first to entertain seriously the notion of renegotiating the APOC concession.109 While some have sought to place Kashani in the nationalist camp, at least during the crisis,110 this claim has been undermined by the contents of a 1952 CIA report, which identified him as having followers that could give Mosaddegh a ‘contest in the streets... [that] would be bitter and destructive’.111


Channelling funding to Kashani and his supporters was obviously politically explosive if uncovered. Ann Lambton, a historian who advised the British government on the overthrow of Mosaddegh and was described in her Telegraph obituary as ‘providing a valuable aid to Britain’s eventual success’, had urged the deployment of a British academic specializing in eastern religions and working as an MI6 agent to serve as an interlocutor.112 Nonetheless, Lambton admitted that ‘Kashani has [already] received large sums of money from somewhere.’113 But the ‘somewhere’ was not so mysterious, with a former Iranian ambassador to the UN having since described how a funding stream to Kashani’s men was by then well established, as ‘the British would bring suitcases full of cash and give it to these people. For example, people in the bazaar, the wealthy merchants, would each have their own ayatollah that they would finance. And that’s what the British were [also] doing.’114 CIA funding to Kashani also now seems confirmed, with a former CIA station chief admitting that ‘it was money both to Kashani and his chosen instruments, money to finance his communication channels.’115 Moreover, Lambton also seemed unaware of the extent of Britain’s ‘Oudh Bequest’, which was a long-standing and indirect means of paying retainers to Shia clerics in Iraq and Iran so as to maintain influence in the holy Shia cities of Karbala and Najaf. This mechanism was favoured by London as it allowed British embassy officials some leeway in being able simultaneously to give public support to the urban Sunni elites in Baghdad, even when they were putting down Shia uprisings. In 1903, for example, Britain’s representative in Iran had noted that the bequest was a strong means of ‘cultivating friendly personal relations with the chief priests as [it] would enable us to use them if necessary as a lever should Persia follow an unfriendly policy’.116


Noting in his memoirs that ‘the British had their fingers in strange pies... [they] had ties to the most reactionary clergy in the country,’ the Shah also admitted that during this period ‘[he had] a longstanding suspicion of British intent and British policy’.117 Writing from exile, his sister even argued that if you turned a cleric’s beard upside down you would have seen ‘Made in England’ stamped underneath it.118 Vaguely aware that Britain had been pursuing an Islamist back-up plan on the sidelines of the mainstream CIA coup strategy, the Shah’s family was nonetheless probably unaware that Britain had been contemplating the ayatollahs actually seizing power outright if the Shah or his new prime minister ever proved uncooperative in the post-Mosaddegh era. Britain’s foreign secretary, for example, had already discussed with the US the possibility of Kashani being a ‘client political leader’ if some sort of modus vivendi could be established.119 Such an eventuality was not so unlikely, as declassified CIA documents have since revealed the rampant corruption and nepotism in the post-coup Zahedi government along with its divisive efforts to get Mosaddegh executed.120 Sensing their vulnerability and, so it seems, their reliance on support from the Islamist camp, both Zahedi and the Shah paid personal visits to Kashani. According to the Iraqi ambassador to Tehran, they kissed his hand and thanked him for all of his help.121


Either way, with Mosaddegh removed the Iranian government quickly issued a new tender for foreign oil companies, but this time granting US firms forty percent of the concessions while Britain’s share was reduced to the same level.122 In this sense, the new Iranian dictatorship proved a good microcosm of the broader shift in influence in the Middle East from Britain to the US, with the CIA’s heavy lifting seeming to warrant the Eisenhower administration’s abandonment of the earlier promises to Britain that ‘Persian oil is yours.’123 Handsomely rewarded for his role in the US’s first significant Middle Eastern counter-revolution, Kermit Roosevelt left the CIA in 1958 and joined one of the largest US oil firms that had won an Iran concession.124 He also founded a consultancy company which received $116,000 a year from the Iranian government and helped facilitate further deals between US companies and Iran. Meanwhile, another US concession-winning company became a client of the same law firm of which both Dulles brothers were members.125


Most grimly, as a sort of counter-insurgency ‘after service’, the Shah’s dreaded internal security services – the Organization of National Security and Information, or Savak – had by the early 1960s already received $500 million of US aid for the purchase of riot-control equipment. It was also receiving CIA and MI6 training, which, according to a former CIA analyst, was intended to ‘deal with any likely and foreseeable civil disturbance in Tehran’ and was ‘based on German torture techniques from the Second World War’.126 By the 1970s the increasingly repressive regime was one of Britain’s biggest trade partners, with most of the Western oil majors successfully renegotiating their concessions.127 During a visit by opposition leader Margaret Thatcher in 1978, shortly before her election victory and the collapse of the Shah’s regime, the future British prime minister gushingly declared that ‘his imperial majesty [is]... one of the world’s most far-sighted statesmen whose experience is unrivalled... no other leader has given his country more dynamic leadership. He is leading Iran through a twentieth century renaissance.’ She also claimed that ‘it is a source of pride that British contractors are going to build the new military industrial complex at Isfahan; and have helped to construct the dockyard at Bandar Abbas.’ Putting it bluntly, she concluded that ‘defence sales generate employment in Britain, which we badly need... Iran’s purchases of British fighting vehicles provide many thousands of jobs throughout our engineering industries... Iran has become by far our largest market in the Middle East... our sales to Iran now amount to more than £1 billion a year. We should like to do even better.’128


In 2013, to mark officially the sixtieth anniversary of the coup and, perhaps just as importantly, following a series of earlier lawsuits against the CIA, the US’s National Security Archive published a series of recently declassified CIA documents on Iran. These included the first formal acknowledgement from the CIA that it had planned and helped to execute the coup. Summarizing the files, the National Security Archive described them as ‘reinforcing the conclusion that the US, and the CIA in particular, devoted extensive resources and high-level policy attention toward bringing about Mosaddegh’s overthrow, and smoothing over the aftermath’.129 The documents’ existence and contents contrast sharply with a report in the New York Times in 1997 that quoted CIA officials stating falsely that most of the documents relating to Iran in 1953 were either lost or destroyed in the early 1960s, allegedly because the record-holders’ safes ‘were too full’.130 In much the same way, there was also a British cover-up, with Foreign Office documents written at the time the Shah’s rule was disintegrating in 1978, but since declassified, indicating that its Iran desk officer had warned that if any records relating to the coup were ever released they risked ‘possibly damaging consequences not only for London but for the Shah of Iran, who was fighting for survival’, and that they contained ‘very embarrassing things about the British’.131 A year later other British officials warned that ‘as the revolution [in Iran] is upon us, the problem is no longer Anglo-American: the first revelations will be from the Iranian side.’132 Even today the British government does not acknowledge its involvement in the Mosaddegh crisis, although in 2009 Foreign Secretary David Miliband equivocally referred to Britain’s role as part of a series of ‘many outside interferences into Iran’s affairs’.133


REMOVING THE RIVALS – TAKING ON THE ARABS


Emboldened by their successes in Iran, the US and its intelligence organizations soon woke up to the importance of Egypt and began to assume prime responsibility for countering most of the other Arab nationalist movements in the Middle East and North Africa. Worryingly for Washington, its enemies had even reached Israel’s gates as a series of ineffective military dictatorships in Syria came to an end in 1954 when Syrian ‘free officers’ restored free and fair elections.134 With the nationalist People’s Party and the Arab Socialist Renaissance Party – the Ba’ath – winning a combined 55 out of 140 seats and thus representing the biggest bloc in parliament, the former French protectorate seemed finally poised to pursue an independent foreign policy.135


Refusing all US aid and staking out its Cold War neutrality, the new Syrian government confirmed the Department of State’s fears, with embassy cables from Damascus warning that ‘if the popular leftward trend in Syria continues... there is a real danger that Syria will fall completely under left-wing control.’ Unsurprisingly, given the still gestating Eisenhower doctrine, the embassy also made multiple claims that the Syrian Communist Party was actively penetrating the government and the army, even though the party had won only one seat in the general election.136 Without evidence, one cable stated: ‘If the present trend continues there is a strong possibility that a communist-dominated Syria will result, threatening the peace and stability of the area and endangering the achievement of our objectives in the Near East.’ On this basis it recommended that ‘we should give priority consideration to developing courses of action in the Near East designed to affect the situation in Syria.’ But even within the embassy there was confusion, as another cable stated: ‘In fact the [Syrian] Communist Party does not appear to have as its immediate objective seizure of power. Rather it seeks to destroy national unity... and to exacerbate tension in the Arab World.’137 British government reports were much the same, warning that ‘[Syria’s] army is deeply engaged in politics and increasingly under the influence of the extreme left; and there’s much communist penetration.’ Foreign Office records also reveal that the British cabinet agreed an attempt should be made to ‘swing Syria on the right path’.138


Keeping it in the family, Kermit Roosevelt’s cousin Archibald took the lead after a meeting with the leader of Syria’s conservative Populist Party.139 The memoirs of a former National Security Council official indicate that, after a discussion of what aid the US could supply to bring them to power, money was given to the party so that it could buy off military officers, radio stations, and newspapers.140 Reprising its CIA-supporting role, MI6 meanwhile arranged for a Turkish border incident to take place. Serving as a distraction for the Syrian military, it was to allow British-funded Iraqi tribes to rise up and cross Syria’s eastern border while Lebanese elements would come in from the west. Moreover, in the same vein as its outreach to Egypt’s Brotherhood and Iran’s ayatollahs, Britain also began to put into effect its usual Islamist ‘Plan B’ by contacting the Syrian branch of the Brotherhood and encouraging it to stage simultaneous demonstrations in Syria’s cities. The aim, it seems, was for the ensuing confusion to create a state of anarchy requiring intervention from the still pro-British Iraqi armed forces.141 Worryingly, British foreign secretary Selwyn Lloyd also wrote to the new prime minister, Anthony Eden, with details of a longer-term plan. According to their correspondence, after the CIA- and MI6-sponsored coup had taken place an effort would then be made to ‘attach Syria to the Iraqi state... in connection with the development of the fertile crescent’.142 A date for the coup, known as ‘Operation Straggle’, was set for late October 1956, while an aftercare plan was drawn up involving the sealing off of all Syrian border posts and with the US immediately granting recognition to the new government.143


Although the Suez Canal crisis derailed Straggle, with Eden asking for it to be aborted on the grounds that anti-Western sentiments were running too high in the region, within three months Damascus was back in the spotlight after it signed a technical aid agreement with the Soviet Union. According to Department of State reports, ‘the British [were] believed to favour active stimulation of a change in the present regime in Syria, in an effort to assure a pro-Western orientation.’ By summer 1957 a new coup was thus prepared, this time with Kermit Roosevelt back at the helm. Known as the ‘Preferred Plan’, it was again to rely on Brotherhood demonstrations along with the arming of ‘political factions with paramilitary capabilities’. As before, violent border incidents were to be staged, but this time they were to be false flag operations so as to place the blame on the Syrian government. More drastically, Eden also authorized the assassination of a number of Syrian officials including the head of military intelligence and the chief of the general staff. Rather than relying on the Populist Party to take power, the US and British fell back on the more tried and tested strategy of installing a strongman after the expected collapse of the government.144 Opting for Adib Shishakli as their Syrian version of Iran’s Fazlollah Zahedi, London and Washington consciously backed the country’s former military dictator who had staged an election in 1953 to install himself as president and had then banned all newspapers critical of him.145


One of the CIA officers who had been involved in the Tehran coup was sent to Damascus, and Shishakli’s former chief of security was brought to Lebanon so that he could then be smuggled across the border in a US diplomatic vehicle. The stage was set for the Preferred Plan.146 Or so it seemed. In fact a number of the US’s paid informants in the Syrian military had handed over their cash payments to Syrian intelligence along with the names of the CIA agents involved. They also revealed that the US had promised the Shishakli faction between $300 and $400 million in aid if it made peace with Israel once it had seized power. The idea of a continuing US presence had quickly become untenable. Especially bitter, the expelled US Army attaché ran his Syrian motorbike escort off the road as he reached the Lebanese border, shouting to him that the Syrian chief of intelligence ‘and his commie friends’ would have ‘the shit beaten out of them by him with one hand tied behind his back if they ever crossed his path again’.147


Smarting from two failed coups and forced to gaze in from the outside, the US’s focus on Syria nonetheless remained strong, with the Syrian government repeatedly complaining of ‘unidentified aircraft flying over Latakia’ – the Mediterranean port where most foreign ships docked. As a NATO member since 1952, Turkey also seemed willing to be drawn into the stand-off, likely in an attempt to underscore its role as an Eisenhower Doctrine enforcing state. Indeed, at one point Eisenhower himself stated that the Turks were massing on Syria’s border with a ‘readiness to act’ due to ‘anticipated aggression’ from Syria, and that ‘the US would undertake to expedite shipments of arms already committed to the Middle Eastern countries, and further, would replace losses as quickly as possible.’148


On top of these pressure-building tactics the US media continued its campaign to brand Syria a ‘Soviet satellite’, even though there was little evidence to support such assertions. Certainly by 1958 this seemed wholly implausible as under the terms of Syria’s merger with Egypt to form the United Arab Republic both states had declared their respective communist parties to be illegal.149 As a New York Times correspondent later described, a number of reports were nevertheless still filed, mostly describing Soviet arms and aircraft arriving in Syria, but these later proved to be false.150 Even the Department of Defense was reluctant to buy into the ongoing CIA and Department of State Soviet–Syria narrative, with one of its reports stating that ‘the Soviet Union has shown no intention of direct intervention in any of the previous Middle Eastern crises, and we believe it is unlikely that they would intervene, directly, to assure the success of a leftist coup in Syria.’151 Furthermore, on the subject of the anti-communist Turkish antagonism, one of Eisenhower’s own advisers later wrote of how the undersecretary of state ‘reviewed in rueful detail... some recent clumsy clandestine US attempts to spur Turkish forces to do some vague kind of battle against Syria’.152
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